

Università di Cagliari

Facoltà di Biologia e Farmacia

Dipartimento di Scienze Biomediche

Sezione di Microbiologia e Virologia

Dottorato di ricerca in

"Sviluppo e Sperimentazione dei Farmaci Antivirali"

XXVI Ciclo

Titolo Tesi

DIFFERENTIAL EFFECTS OF MOUSE APOBEC3 AFTER INCORPORATION INTO MURINE LEUKEMIA VIRUSES

Settore scientifico-disciplinare BIO/19 – Microbiologia

> Coordinatore Dottorato Prof.ssa Alessandra Pani

Relatore (Cagliari) Prof. Paolo La Colla Relatore (estero) Dott. Leonard H. Evans

Candidato Dott. Stefano Boi

Anno Accademico 2012-2013

FOREWORD

During these three years of my PhD course, I had the possibility to work on different projects that I have carried out at the University of Cagliari, Department of Biomedical Sciences, under the supervision of Prof. P. La Colla, and at the Rocky Mountain Laboratories (National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Laboratory of Persistent Viral Diseases, Retrovirology Molecular Biology Section) under the supervision of Dr. L.H. Evans. The results obtained during these researches led to the submission of the following manuscripts:

- Stefanska, J., D. Szulczyk, A. E. Koziol, E. Augustynowicz-Kopec, A. Napiorkowska, A. Bielenica, M. Struga, G. Giliberti, S. Madeddu, S. Boi, P. La Colla, G. Sanna. 2014. Synthesis and antimicrobial activity of thiourea derivatives of 2-amino-1,3-thiazole. Submitted to Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy.
- Szulczyk, D., A. Bielenica, A. E. Koziol, S. Fidecka, E. Kędzierska, J. Stefańska, M. Struga, G. Sanna, S. Madeddu, S. Boi, P. La Colla, G. Giliberti. 2014. Biological evaluation of novel indole-derived thioureas. Submitted to Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy.
- Evans, L. H., S. Boi, F. Malik, K. Wehrly, K. E. Peterson, B. Chesebro. 2014. Analysis of two monoclonal antibodies reactive with envelope proteins of murine retroviruses: One pan specific antibody and one specific for Moloney leukemia virus. J Virol Methods. Vol. 200, Pages 47–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2014.02.006
- Boi, S., A. Kolokithas, J. Shepard, R. Linwood, K. Rosenke, E. Van Dis, F. Malik, and L. Evans. 2014. Incorporation of mouse APOBEC3 into MuLV virions decreases the activity and fidelity of reverse transcriptase. Submitted to Journal of Virology.

ABSTRACT

APOBEC3 proteins are cytidine deaminases that are potent inhibitors of retrovirus replication. These restriction factors induce $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation as a result of deamination of cytidine in the single stranded transcripts generated by reverse transcription during replication. Mouse APOBEC3 (mA3) effectively inhibits the replication of endogenous retroelements whereas most exogenous murine leukemia viruses (MuLV) are largely resistant to the action(s) of mA3. However, several studies have reported significant inhibition of infectivity by virionassociated mA3 that did not appear to be the result of $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation. In this report the influence of different levels of virion-associated mA3 on the exogenous MuLV, CasFr^{KP} was examined. A correlation was observed between the level of incorporated mA3, the virion specific infectivity, the virion reverse transcriptase (RT) activity and the mutation frequency. Although $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation of CasFr^{KP} was not observed, the frequency of other transition mutations was significantly increased. $G \rightarrow A$ mutations induced by mA3 have been reported to exhibit a strong consensus of two bases flanking the mutation. No strong consensus was observed for mA3-induced mutations of CasFr^{KP} suggesting a general decrease in the fidelity of the RT. The results of this study strongly suggest an interaction between mA3 and the RT of CasFr^{KP} leading to a loss of activity as well as fidelity of the polymerase that ultimately results in a significant loss of infectivity.

In contrast to CasFr^{KP}, AKV, an ecotropic MuLV isolated from AKR mice, has been reported to undergo hypermutation mediated by mA3. In this report we also confirm that AKV does undergo $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation upon infection of 3T3 cells, however hypermutation is not augmented in viruses that have incorporated HA-tagged mA3. Furthermore, the observed $G \rightarrow A$ transition mutations are not randomly distributed in that multiple mutations frequently occur in a single transcript. These observations suggest that the $G \rightarrow A$ mutations are the result of the incorporation of an unknown restriction factor in only a portion of the released virions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Leonard (Pug) Evans, for allowing me to be part of his laboratory at RML and for helping me during this thesis work.

Thanks to all the members of the lab and all the people and friends who have helped me in Hamilton, they have made the experience that I spent there, unforgettable.

I would also like to thank Prof.ssa Alessandra Pani and Prof. Paolo La Colla for following and encouraged me during these years. Thanks to all the colleagues and friends of our lab here at University of Cagliari for the support, the suggestions, and the good times we spent together.

Finally, I would like to thank Valentina for having been close to me, my Friends and all my wonderful and great family, especially my mother, without whom I would not have been able to reach this goal.

This research was supported by the Intramural Research Program of the NIH, NIAID and the Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Cagliari, 09042 Monserrato (CA), Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORDi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS v
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1. Retroviruses
1.2. Murine Leukemia viruses
1.3. MuLV Genome and Proteins
1.4. Replication Cycle
1.4.1. Binding and entry 9
1.4.2. Reverse transcription and integration
1.4.3. Transcription of the provirus 15
1.4.4. Translation and maturation 15
1.5. Restriction Factors
1.5.1. APOBEC3
1.5.2. Murine APOBEC3 (mA3)
1.5.3. mA3 as retroviral restriction factor
1.6. Importance of the work

Chapter 2: Incorporation of mouse APOBEC3 into MuLV virions decreases the a	ctivity
and fidelity of reverse transcriptase	
2.1. Introduction	
2.2. Materials and Methods	
2.2.1. Plasmids, cells and viruses.	
2.2.2. Immunoblotting	
2.2.3. Specific infectivity and RT activity	
2.2.4. Mutational Analyses	
2.2.5. Statistical analysis	
2.3. Results	
2.3.1. Incorporation of mA3 into CasFr ^{KP} virions reflects the level of mA3 exp	ression
in cells	
2.3.2. Virion associated mA3 suppresses MuLV infectivity	
2.3.3. Decrease in RT activity by virion-incorporated mA3	
2.3.4. Incorporation of mA3 into virions results in a decrease of RT fidelity	
2.3.5. Sequence context of mutations effected by mA3 in CasFr ^{KP}	
2.4. Discussion	
Chapter 3: The ecotropic AKV MuLV undergoes $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation independent	ent of
augmented APOBEC3	51
3.1. Introduction	51

3.2. Materials and Methods	53
3.2.1. Plasmids, cells and viruses	53
3.2.2. Immunoblotting	53
3.2.3. Mutational Analyses	53
3.2.4. Statistical analysis	54
3.3. Results	55
3.3.1. AKV undergoes $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation in NIH 3T3 cells in the absence of n	nA3-
HA expression.	55
3.3.2. G \rightarrow A hypermutation of AKV is not augmented in the presence of mA3	57
3.3.3. The sequence context of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in AKV is similar to the sequence	e
context of mA3-induced $G \rightarrow A$ mutations.	59
3.3.4. G \rightarrow A mutations are disproportionate among AKV transcripts	61
3.4. Discussion	63
Chapter 4	68
4.1. Conclusions	68
4.2. Future Directions	69
Reference List	71

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Retroviruses

Retroviruses are enveloped RNA viruses that include different sub-families. They are termed retroviruses because of their means of replication. The viral genome is a linear RNA molecule that, upon infection is transcribed from RNA to linear double-stranded DNA, a process that is termed reverse transcription. The double-stranded DNA is subsequently integrated into the genome of the host cell (72). If this occurs in a germline cell the retrovirus becomes a permanent component of the host genome that is passed down to subsequent generations (129). Over the course of evolution, the human genome has been infected approximately 40,000 times such that about 10% of the genome consists of retroviral sequences (129).

Among the retrovirus family we find important pathogens such as HIV-1, feline leukaemia virus, and several cancer-causing viruses (72). Various retroviruses have been found that infect a large number of organisms, including humans and many other mammals. The earliest retroviruses studied were isolated from mice and birds. Examples of such retroviruses include murine leukemia virus (MuLV), mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV), and the avian pathogens Rous sarcoma virus (RSV), spleen necrosis virus (SNV), and avian leukosis virus (ALV) (14).

The viral RNA is made up of two identical RNA genomes that are incorporated into the virion and are comparable to a large polycistronic messenger RNA (67). Reverse transcription of the viral RNA results in the generation of DNA transcripts which are ultimately integrated into the target cell genome as a provirus (129). Once integrated, the provirus is able to employ the cell's transcriptional machinery to transcribe its genome into full-length genomic RNA, which also serves as a messenger RNA (129). A portion of the full-length RNA is spliced into a shorter RNA that is translated to yield the Env proteins while the full-length RNA is translated into the remaining structural proteins of the virus as well as the viral polymerase. The translated proteins and full-length genomic RNA are assembled to create new retroviruses that are subsequently released from the cell through budding. Non-defective viruses are capable of infecting new cells.

1.2. Murine Leukemia viruses

Murine leukemia viruses (MLVs or MuLVs) are retroviruses originally named for the ability of some members of the group to cause tumors in murine hosts. Some MuLVs may infect other vertebrates, including humans, and have been implicated in the induction of leukemias in gene therapy patients (49). MuLVs include both exogenous and endogenous viruses and are classified in the Baltimore classification of viruses as Type VI (+) belonging to the Gammaretroviral genus of the Orthoretroviridae subfamily, Retroviridae family. The viral particles (Figure 1) of replicating MuLVs have what is termed a C-type morphology as determined by electron microscopy (8), with a diameter of ~100–120nm (149) and a spherical inner core composed of the nucleocapsid (NC) and capsid (CA) proteins (8,133). Inside the core there are: RNA genome, reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase (IN), protease (PR), and the tRNA^{Pro} primer (67).



Figure 1. Structure of a MuLV particle. TM and SU subunits are located at the outer surface of the virus, while the inner part of a virion, known as the core, contains the RNA genome, NC, IN and PR surrounded by the CA. The CA is surrounded by the p12 and the MA protein, which helps anchor the lipid membrane. Figure credit: Dr. Leonard Evans.

The virus is encapsulated in a lipid envelope that is coated with glycoprotein spikes similar to that of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (111). The spikes consist of the glycoprotein SU (surface) which includes regions binding the cellular receptor and determines the host range of the virus and the TM (transmembrane) protein, which anchors the SU protein to the virion by disulfide bridges. The TM protein is involved in fusion of the viral membrane to cellular membrane. In contrast to other types of retroviruses, type C particles appear to be assembled largely at the plasma membrane during budding.

MuLVs can be transmitted from one host to another by horizontal transmission of exogenous viruses or transmitted from parent to offspring by vertical transmission of endogenous MuLVs integrated into the host genome (67). The major classification of MuLVs has been based on host specificity or tropism which reflects different cell-suface receptor usage. Focusing on this type of classification we can distinguish between ecotropic (77) MuLVs that infect only mice, and utilize the mCAT-1 receptor (4); amphotropic MuLVs that infect mice and cells of many other species using the Pit-2 receptor (52,144); xenotropic MuLVs, that are endogenous to mice, can infect cells of many species but do not infect mouse cells, and utilize the Xpr-1 receptor (77), and polytropic viruses that can infect many species including mice and humans and also use Xpr-1 as a receptor (139).

MuLVs are comprised of a large number of mouse gammaretroviruses. Some MuLVs that cause proliferative diseases in mice are named after their discoverers: Gross MuLV by Dr. Ludwig Gross (lymphocytic leukemia) (47); Graffi MuLV by Dr. Arnold Graffi (erythroleukemia) (42); Friend MuLV (F-MuLV) by Dr. Charlotte Friend (erythroleukemia) (41); Moloney (M-MuLV) by Dr. John B. Moloney (lymphocytic leukemia) (87); Rauscher MuLV (R-MuLV) by Dr. Frank J. Rauscher (erythroleukemia) (110); Kirsten MuLV (Ki-MuLV) by Dr. Warner H. Kirsten (lymphocytic leukemia) (66); and Abelson MuLV (A-MuLV) by Dr. Herbert T. Abelson (B-cell leukemia) (1).

1.3. MuLV Genome and Proteins

Viral genomic RNAs resemble large mRNAs (~8.3 kb) containing a 5' cap (113) and are polyadenylated at the 3' end (45). The RNA genome begins with a 5' short terminal repeat, R (53,125), followed by a short region which is termed U5 (61). Near the 3' terminus of the viral

genome is a region termed U3 region, which contains the transcriptional regulatory elements of the virus (20). The U3 is followed by the 3' short terminal repeat (R) (53). The U3 region and U5 region are so named because they are unique 3' and 5' sequences that are incorporated along with the R region into the long terminal repeat (LTR) found in proviral DNA after reverse transcription (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. MuLV genomic structure and organization. The proviral DNA is flanked by two LTRs, both of which contain a U3, R and U5 region. Following the 5' LTR are signals that function in primer binding (PBS), splicing (SD), dimerization of the RNA genome (DLS), and packaging (psi). Next are the genes that code for internal structural components (Gag), replication (Pol) and receptor recognition (Env). These are followed by a sequence required for DNA synthesis (PPT) and an LTR which contains transcriptional regulatory sequences. Transcription of proviral DNA into RNA (_____) leads to two major species, the full-length genome, and the spliced mRNA that encodes the envelope polyprotein. Translation of the full-length RNA yields the polyproteins (____) gGag, Gag and Gag-Pol. Translation of the spliced mRNA yields the Env polyprotein. These polyproteins are further processed by the viral protease (____) to yield their mature forms.

Three major polyproteins are encoded by the MuLV genome. The Gag polyprotein is comprised of the major structural components of the viral core and includes the hydrophobic matrix protein (MA, p15^{gag}) (6), the acidic phosphorylated protein (pp12) (98), the neutral capsid protein (CA, p30) (97), and the basic nucleocapsid protein (NC, p10) (40). The Pol polyprotein is comprised of the protease (PR, p14) (100), the reverse transcriptase (RT, p80) (5), and integrase enzymes (IN, p46) (43). The Env polyprotein encodes the surface glycoprotein (SU, gp70^{env}) (59) and transmembrane proteins (TM, p15^{env}) (61) that jointly mediate the entry of an infectious virus particle into a new host cell to initiate infection (127). Many gammaretroviruses, including M-MuLV and F-MuLV, as well as feline leukemia virus, encode an additional glycosylated form of the Gag protein termed glyco-Gag (36). "glyco-Gag" or gPr80Gag differs in sequence from "standard" Gag in that it is contains additional N-terminal amino acids. Synthesis of glyco- Gag is initiated at a CUG codon in a favorable context for translation initiation, 264 bases 5' of the normal Gag AUG initiation codon (108,36).

As in all orthoretroviruses, the three coding regions are organized, from 5' to 3', *gag*, *pol* and *env*. The Pol proteins are firstly synthesized together with Gag, in a large Gag-Pol merged polyprotein. Gag and Gag-Pol are both translated from full-length viral RNA, identical in sequence to the genomic RNA present in the virion. It seems likely that the Gag-Pol polyprotein is incorporated into assembling virions due to "coassembly" of its Gag moiety with Gag polyprotein molecules (37). In the gammaretroviruses such as MuLV, *gag* and *pol* are in the same reading frame, divided by a single termination codon. MuLV RNA contains a 57-base cisacting signal immediately 3' of the termination codon (38) that induces the insertion of glutamine (normally encoded by CAG), rather than UAG codon termination in about 5% of the translation products. The resulting product is extended by translation of the entire Pol coding region (153).

The Env protein of MuLV, like that of other orthoretroviruses, is translated from a singly spliced mRNA. There is an overlap of 58 bases between the end of the Pol coding region and the beginning of the Env coding region (111).

There are noncoding regions in the MuLV RNA that contains a set of cis-acting signals that are essential for its function as a viral genome. These include the "primer binding site" (PBS), the polypurine tract (PPT) which is necessary for second strand synthesis of DNA and participates in the insertion of the DNA form of the viral genome into cellular DNA by the IN protein, the "packaging signal" sequences (Ψ , psi) required for packaging of the viral RNA into virions, and the promoter and enhancer sequences within the LTR. The PBS is an 18-base stretch that is complementary to the last 18 bases of a cellular tRNA molecule. In exogenous MuLVs, this is usually tRNA^{Pro}, however endogenous MuLVs frequently utilize tRNA^{Glu}. Within the virion, the tRNA is hybridized to the viral RNA and upon infectious entry, the tRNA serves as the primer for reverse transcription. The PBS is located ~145 bases from the 5' end of the RNA and ~460 bases 5' of the start of the Gag coding region (111).

In general, during reverse transcription the RNA is copied by the polymerase activity of RT and is progressively degraded, shortly after being copied, by the RNase H activity of RT. However, an exceptional stretch of ~15 purines near the 3' end of retroviral RNAs (the PPT) is specifically resistant to this degradation. After reverse transcription, this fragment of the viral RNA serves as the primer for synthesis of the second (plus) strand of DNA. The 3' terminal base of the PPT encodes the first base of the plus strand of the DNA copy, that is, the 5' end of the plus strand or "left" end of the double-stranded DNA (111). These sequences at the two ends of the final DNA product are the sequences joined by IN to host-cell chromosomal DNA during the integration reaction (12).

Between the PBS and the packaging signal (psi) there is the splice donor (SD) site (126) that is joined to a splice acceptor (SA) site that precedes the *env* gene. The spliced *env* gene mRNA lacks the packaging signal and thus avoids packaging into the virion. The psi region also contains the dimer linkage site (DLS) that is required for RNA dimerization (89,117). In all orthoretroviruses, the viral RNA is actually packaged in dimeric form, with two molecules of the viral RNA linked by a limited number of intermolecular base pairs. The primary location of these base pairs is in the "leader", between the PBS and the beginning of the Gag coding sequence (69).

1.4. Replication Cycle

1.4.1. Binding and entry

As with all orthoretroviruses, infection is initiated by the binding of the SU (gp70) glycoprotein on the exterior of the mature, infectious virion to a receptor on the surface of the target cell (56). This binding event triggers dramatic changes in Env, leading to the release of the SU component and conformational rearrangement of TM. The ultimate result is the fusion of the viral membrane with a cellular membrane. In some cases, fusion may occur within endosomes that have captured virions (85). The fusion of the two membranes leads to the deposition of the contents of the virion in the cytoplasm of the cell (67). The replication cycle of MuLV is depicted in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. Replication cycle of MuLV. 1) Envelope glycoproteins bind to the specific cell receptors required for viral entry. 2) Fusion and entry into the cell. 3) Uncoating of virion 4) Reverse transcription. 5) Preintegration complex enters nucleus, integrates proviral DNA into host genome. 6) Transcription of provirus. 7) Translation of virion components. 8) Assembly at the cell membrane. 9) Budding of the virion. 10) Maturation and release of the virion.

1.4.2. Reverse transcription and integration

After fusion of the virion with the cellular membrane, the viral capsid uncoats and the RNA genome is reverse transcribed into DNA (Fig. 4). Reverse transcription may proceed as soon as intact capsids have access to nucleotides following fusion (72). The provirus is synthesized from the RNA genome by the virion reverse transcriptase (RT). At the beginning of

the process the tRNA^{pro}, which is carried into the virion, binds the primer binding site of the viral RNA (53) and the RT begins to transcribe the cDNA in the 3' to 5' direction ending at the R region (53). At the same time, the RNase H activity of RT degrades the RNA portion of the RNA/DNA Hybrid (44). The complementary DNA just formed, termed strong stop DNA, then binds to the 3' complementary R region at the end of the viral RNA (23,24). The first strand of complementary DNA (cDNA) is extended and the majority of viral RNA is degraded by RNAse H except for the PPT region (32). This region is then used as a primer by RT to synthesize the plus strand DNA in 5' to 3' direction, using as a template the cDNA (131). The RNase H removes the primer tRNA, exposing sequences in +DNA that are complementary to sequences at or near the 3'end of plus-strand DNA. Annealing of the complementary PBS segments in +DNA and minus-strand DNA constitutes the second strand transfer. Plus and minus-strand syntheses are then completed, with the plus and minus strands of DNA each serving as a template for the other strand (71,22).



Figure 4. Schematic description of Reverse transcription 1). The tRNA^{Pro} binds to the PBS of the RNA genome 2). RT transcribes minus (-) strand DNA in the 3' to 5' direction ending at the R region. 3). RT's RNase H activity degrades the RNA portion of the RNA/DNA hybrid. 4). The newly synthesized DNA and tRNA primer dissociates from the 5' end of the RNA genome and hybridizes to the 3' R region of the genome. 5). Minus strand DNA synthesis continues to the PBS at the 5' end of the molecule. 6). RNase H activity of RT degrades the RNA genome, except for the PPT region. 7). RT uses the PPT RNA as a primer to synthesize (in the 5' to 3' direction) the plus (+) strand of DNA to the PBS contained within the strong stop (-) DNA, using the minus strand as a template. The resultant strand is called strong stop plus (+) strand can anneal to the PBS of the minus strand and RT can further synthesize DNA 9). Resulting in a double stranded proviral DNA genome.

After reverse transcription is complete, the resulting double stranded DNA transcript is associated with cellular and viral proteins into a preintegration complex (PIC) that is subsequently translocated to the nucleus (Fig. 5). MuLV PICs are translocated upon disintegration of the nuclear membrane during mitosis while PICs of HIV and other lentiviruses are actively translocated through pores in the nuclear membrane (30). Insertion of the viral DNA into the host cell DNA is catalyzed by a viral enzyme called integrase (IN). This enzyme recognizes and nicks the two ends of viral DNA, and the new 3'-ends are then joined covalently to the host DNA at staggered nicks made by integrase. Although retroviruses may integrate at many different sites in the genome, the process is not entirely random. MuLVs exhibit preferential integration sites near transcriptional start sites and are influenced by MuLV Gag and IN proteins, while lentiviruses exhibit preferential integration within actively transcribed gene sequences (30). Once the preintegration complex associates with the host chromosome, viral IN catalyzes the insertion of the viral sequences into the host DNA. The two LTR ends of the linear viral DNA are brought together into a ternary complex with IN and host DNA, where the insertion occurs in a coordinated or concerted reaction (58). A 2-bp sequence is lost from each end of the viral DNA, and a short duplication of 4 to 7 bp from the host, depending upon the viral IN, is introduced into the host sequence flanking the viral DNA. Integrated viral DNA is termed the provirus (58). Integration occurs in two well-characterized catalytic steps, referred to as end processing and joining, respectively. End processing involves removal of a dinucleotide, adjacent to a highly conserved CA dinucleotide, from the 39 bp strand of the U3 and U5 viral DNA LTRs in a reaction involving a water molecule or other nucleophile. This exposes a hydroxyl group, whose oxygen is used as an attacking nucleophile on the target DNA during the joining reaction, in which the viral DNA is inserted into the cellular DNA (58).

Figure 5. Integration of proviral DNA. 1). The proviral cDNA (in blue) is bound to the integrase portion of the pre-integration complex (PIC). 2). The 3' ends of the DNA are nicked by IN to produce 3' hydroxyl ends. 3). The PIC is then shuttled into the nucleus and the IN produces a 4-6 bp staggered cut in the host genome (in black) which acts as a target for the proviral genomes free hydroxyl groups to integrate into. 4). The pairing of host DNA is dissolved. 5). The gaps left behind and the non-complementary ends of the proviral genome are 6). repaired and removed, respectively.



1.4.3. Transcription of the provirus

Once the viral DNA is integrated into host DNA, it is transcribed and translated by normal host-cell machinery (111). Specifically, the provirus is transcribed as a cellular gene by RNA polymerase II and mediated by transcriptional control elements contained within the proviral LTR (48). Expression directed by the viral LTR signals is carried out entirely by host cell enzymes (RNA pol II, poly A synthetase, guanyl transferase). The enhancer and other transcription regulatory signals are contained in the U3 region of the 5' LTR, and the TATA box is located roughly 25 bp from the beginning of the R sequence. The integrated provirus has two LTRs, and the 5' LTR normally acts as an RNA pol II promoter (48,27). The transcript begins, at the beginning of R, and proceeds through U5 and the rest of the provirus, usually terminating by the addition of a poly A tract just after the R sequence in the 3' LTR (48). The mRNA generated during the transcription can be spliced or unspliced and then translated to produce the viral proteins.

1.4.4. Translation and maturation

Cells infected by a retrovirus synthesize virus-specific RNAs by transcription of the integrated proviral DNA. The primary transcript is 5' capped and 3' polyadenylated and can be either spliced to give the subgenomic RNAs or transported to the cytoplasm where it serves as an mRNA for the synthesis of gag and gag-pol polyproteins and/or as the pregenomic RNA. The gag and gag-pol polyproteins are the precursors to the major proteins and enzymes, respectively, of the virion core (21). The genetic organization of the 5' sequences of the genomic RNA is complex and contains a long multifunctional 5' untranslated domain, the leader, that precedes the gag gene. The 5' leader is formed of independent well structured domains involved in key steps of the virial life cycle such as the initiation of proviral DNA synthesis (the PBS and R sequences),

genomic RNA dimerization and encapsidation (the dimerization-encapsidation signal E/DLS), and the initiation of gag precursor translation (AUG-619 gag initiation codon). The genomic RNA of MuLVs directs the synthesis of two gag-related proteins: Pr65^{gag}, the precursor to the virion core structural proteins, and Pr75^{glyco-gag}, the precursor to the glycosylated gag protein found on the surface of MuLV-infected cells (36,121). Translation of Pr65gag starts at an AUG while Pr75^{glyco-gag} is initiated at a CUG located within the 5' leader and in frame with AUG^{gag}. (108). During virus maturation Pr65^{gag} is proteolytically cleaved into the final products designated p15, pp12, p30, and p10 (176). The processing is accomplished by a virion-associated protease (150), which first cleaves Pr65^{gag} into Pr27^{gag} (p15 + pp12) and Pr40^{gag} (p30 + p10), the two major intermediate cleavage products (145,151). The MA protein (p15) is the most hydrophobic protein of the virus (6). The CA protein (p30) is neutral and is the major structural protein of the virus (96). Bound to the genomic RNA is the basic nucleocapsid protein (NC or p10) which is a major component of the ribonuclear protein complex (40).

The Gag-Pol polyprotein, in addition to Gag includes PR, RT, and IN. The PR protein (p14) catalyzes the cleavages leading to virus maturation. Like all retroviral PRs, it is an aspartic protease, which is only active as a dimer (84,138). RT (p80) is packaged into the core of the virion and synthesizes the DNA copy of the viral genome during infection. MuLV RT is active as a monomeric protein (28,86). MuLV IN (p46) is also incorporated into the core of the virion and has not been characterized in detail but is presumed to function as a tetramer (142,51).

The MuLV Env gene product is synthesized in the rough endoplasmic reticulum and glycosylated in the Golgi apparatus. It is also cleaved in the Golgi by a cellular furin-like protease into two fragments, the large, N-terminal surface glycoprotein (SU or gp70) and the C-terminal transmembrane protein (TM or p15E). A trimer of these heterodimeric SU-TM

complexes is then trafficked to the cell surface. Once the envelope protein has reached the cell surface, it is incorporated into a budding C-type retroviral particle (57, 124). SU and TM proteins are linked through a labile disulfide bond (103,105) with the SU on the outside of the particle and the TM exhibiting an extraparticle domain, a transmembrane domain, and a 35-amino acid domain that resides within the particle (104). During a late stage of viral particle maturation the carboxyl-terminal 16 amino acid residues of the TM protein are removed by the retroviral PR resulting in a 12-kDa envelope transmembrane protein (135,127,57,26,64,124). The Env protein present on the membrane of an infected cell is therefore structurally different from that found in a mature particle. Removal of the carboxyl-terminal region during maturation activates the Env protein so that it is capable of fusing membranes in a receptor-dependent manner (109,112,141). The immature virion particles are released from the host cell through a budding mechanism and subsequently undergo maturation as the PR in the virus cleaves the viral polyproteins.

1.5. Restriction Factors

Over the course of the retroviral replication cycle, viral cDNA is introduced into host chromosomal DNA to establish the provirus. If this occurs in a germline cell the process results in a permanent insertional mutation in the host cell genome. In this regard approximately 10% of the human and mouse genomes are derived from retroviruses that have been inserted over the course of evolution (129). Host cells have evolved intracellular factors that block the spread of retroviral infection. Some of these antiviral factors act prior to integration and therefore also block the mutagenic potential of infection. Several such factors have been identified, including Fv1, the APOBEC3 complex, and TRIM5. These host factors potently block HIV-1 and other retroviruses from establishment of the provirus (72).

Fv1 restriction was the first system for resistance to MuLV to be described in mice. Fv1 confers

resistance to MuLVs, blocking progression of the viral life cycle after reverse transcription, but before integration into the host chromosome. It is known that the specificity of restriction is determined by both the restriction factor and the viral capsid CA (78,63,137). Identification of the Fv1 gene as an endogenous virus-derived *gag* gene has led to speculation that its gene product may interact with the Gag proteins of an infecting MuLV preventing a crucial interaction necessary for efficient infection. However a direct interaction between Fv1 and MuLV CA has not yet been demonstrated (134).

The human gene encoding an activity similar to Fv1 was originally called Ref1 and is now known as TRIM5 α (55,65,101,148). TRIM5 α is a member of the tripartite motif (TRIM) protein family, TRIM5 α binds to the retroviral capsid lattice in the cytoplasm of an infected cell and accelerates the uncoating process of retroviral capsid, thus providing a potent restriction to HIV-1 and other retrovirus infections (29). Another restriction factor called tetherin (CD317/BST-2) blocks the release of viral budding particles from the cell membrane by tethering newly forming viruses to host cells (54,76).

1.5.1. APOBEC3

APOBEC3 (Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like 3) proteins are a sub-family of intrinsic restriction factors of the innate immune system (25). They are able to block retroviruses from different species after the entry into the host cells (75). APOBEC3 proteins were originally discovered by Sheehy et al. in 2002 during their investigations of the HIV-1 (18). In this study they observed that when the Vif gene is removed from HIV-1, the resulting HIV Δ vif viruses do not produce infectious particles in some cells (Fig. 6) (18). Their studies concluded that there were cellular factors acting against HIV-1 that could

inhibit the infectious cycle of the virus in the absence of the vif protein (18). It was subsequent discovered that the human APOBEC3G (hA3G) was a target of the Vif protein.



Figure 6. APOBEC3 activity. hA3G-mediated restriction of HIV-1∆vif. hA3G proteins are incorporated into the budding particles during assembly at the cellular inner membrane, after the first round of infection. hA3G is able to inhibit the replication cycle of the retroviral pathogens during the second round of infection. Restriction of retroviral pathogens is mediated by deamination-dependent and –independent restriction pathways of the protein. Figure credit: Chiu and Greene. 2008

APOBEC3 proteins possess enzymatic activity that targets single-stranded DNA. They deaminate cytidines to uridines, disrupting the single-stranded DNA sequences and ultimately induce guanosine to adenosine hypermutation of the proviral genome (18,90). Since the reverse transcription of the viral genomic RNA occurs in the host cell cytoplasm, retroviral DNA intermediates become a major target for APOBEC3 proteins (3,18,90).

Different studies revealed that humans have seven APOBEC3 genes (A3A, A3B, A3C, A3DE, A3F, A3G and A3H) all of which are located within a 150kb region on chromosome 22 (318,90,93). The feline genome has four A3 genes, the equine genome has six, and the mouse

genome has only a single copy of the A3 gene (75,114). Human A3A, A3C, and A3H proteins contain one catalytic domain (CD). In contrast A3B, A3DE, A3G, and A3F and the mouse A3 protein have two catalytic domains (3,18,60,74,90). The most extensively studied member of the APOBEC3 family is the hA3G protein because of its potency as an antiretroviral restriction factor and its importance for HIV-1 infection. hA3G is incorporated into virions and acts through cytidine deamination of single stranded DNA during reverse transcription. The inhibitory activity of hA3G is dependent on two catalytic domains (CDs). CD1 mediates RNA binding and incorporation into the virion (15) and the C-terminal (CD2) domain catalyzes deamination (91). Encapsidation of hA3G requires the nucleocapsid (NC) region of HIV-1 Gag (136), and as few as 7 APOBEC molecules incorporated into a HIV-1 ΔVif virion are sufficient to inhibit the virus in the next round of infection (146).

After the entry in uninfected cells, the viral particles containing hA3G are uncoated and the the viral capsid is liberated into the cytoplasm of the cell. The reverse transcription process starts with the elongation of tRNA attached to the viral genomic RNA, allowing for the production of the minus strand strong-stop DNA. The strong-stop DNA is translocated to the 3' end to generate the whole minus strand (153) where hA3G acts to deaminate cytidines to uridines. The mutation rates of these sequences increase with longer exposure time to A3 proteins. Therefore, the number of mutations are directly related with the exposure time prior to plus strand DNA synthesis and the distribution of mutations is skewed (153). DNA strands containing uridine may be degraded by uracil DNA glycosylase and apurinic-apyrimidinic endonuclease (147). Strands that are not degraded and serve as a template for plus-strand synthesis incorporate A residues rather than G residues at the deaminated positions. Extensive G-to-A mutations render the provirus inactive. Unfortunately, retroviruses such as HIV-1 have evolved mechanisms to escape

the restriction activity of APOBEC3 proteins. HIV-1 encodes a protein called Vif (virion infectivity factor) that can bind to APOBEC3 proteins, and determine their degradation through the 26S proteasome (18,83). Vif binds the N-terminal region of APOBEC3 and links it to the ubiquitin ligase (E3) complex. This complex will consequently promote the polyubiquitylation of APOBEC3 and its subsequent degraded by the proteasome (3,18). In the absence of Vif, hA3G acts to inhibit retroviral replication by mechanisms other than deamination. It is has been proposed that the RNA binding domain of CD1 physically interacts with the RT and inhibits the infectivity of the virus without editing any residues on the single stranded DNA intermediate (3, 18,19,25,60). Furthermore, as discussed below, MuLVs have evolved mechanisms to evade the actions of mA3 not involving cytosine deamination.

A3 enzymatic activity is closely regulated to protect the cell's genomic DNA from APOBEC3 catalytic activity during cell division (18). A3 proteins are generally localized in the cytoplasm; however, some family members like hA3B reside in both the cytoplasm and nucleus (18). Depending on the current activation status of the cell, A3 proteins either form 5-15 MDa high molecular mass (HMM) ribonucleoprotein complexes or 150 kDa low molecular mass (LMM) ribonucleoprotein complexes or 150 kDa low molecular mass (LMM) ribonucleoprotein complexes of A3 proteins.

1.5.2. Murine APOBEC3 (mA3)

There is only one A3 gene in the mouse genome and is situated on mouse chromosome 15. This is in contrast to the seven A3 genes in humans. (18). mA3, like hA3G, has two catalytic domains however the structural organization and functional roles of the catalytic domains are dissimilar than its human counterpart (13,18,50,140). mA3 was reported to have a reversed

structural organization compared to the human A3G protein (50). The deaminase activity of mA3 resides in the CD1 while the RNA binding and encapsulation into the virion resides in CD2 (50). Sequence analysis of a variety of mouse strains and species show that mA3 is expressed from two major mouse alleles. Different inbred mouse strains express either a C57BL/6 or BALB/c mA3 allele (95) that differ by their splicing patterns as well as some polymorphic differences. The full-length mRNA transcript of mA3 contains 9 exons and both major mA3 alleles have related mRNA splicing isoforms (95). However, two splice variants have been identified for mA3 (delta-exon 2 and delta-exon 5) (114,120), and it has been shown that almost all of the mRNA transcripts from the C57BL/6 allele exclude exon 5 (over 95%) (13,73,95). In recent studies by Santiago et al., it has been show that mA3 is synonymous with Rfv3 (Recovery from Friend virus 3) (120); a gene implicated in the resistance of certain mouse strains to the induction of acute erythroleukemia in adult mice by the Friend virus complex of the F-MuLV and a replication-defective pathogenic virus termed the spleen focus-forming virus (SFFV) (120).

1.5.3. mA3 as retroviral restriction factor

Many retroviruses and endogenous retroelements are restricted by the cytidine-deaminase activity of mA3 (73,79,140). Several studies have also reported that mA3 can partially inhibit the replication of exogenous MuLVs such as F-MuLV or M-MuLV although none have been shown to exhibit G to A hypermutation with the exception of AKV (119,2,31,46,120,73). AKV MuLV was identified as an endogenous ecotropic virus in the thymoma-prone mouse strain AKR (115). Although it is endogenous to this mouse strain, it is capable of infecting and replicating as an exogenous virus and is susceptible to the cytidine-deaminase activity of mA3 (73).

A number of studies have reported that mA3, like hA3G can cause high levels of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in the HIV Δv if proviral genome. Furthermore, mA3 can also mutate- wild-type HIV-1 because Vif is not able to interact with murine A3 protein (39,95,153). Conversely, hA3g induces high levels of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in murine retroviruses however, as noted above, mA3 does not.

MuLVs do not encode a Vif like accessory protein, however they have evolved a mechanism(s) to evade the action of mA3 (11,13,31,73). Very recent studies have reported that MuLV glyco-Gag is involved it the resistance to mA3 during the retroviral replication (68,92,132). It is not completely clear how mA3 is able to restrict MuLVs, and why in some cases, the inhibition proceeds by a deaminase-independent mechanism and in others with a deaminase-dependent mechanism (18,19,79,94,140).

One of major aims of the current studies is to elucidate mechanisms by which mA3 is able to inhibit the replication of MuLVs. Studies have focused on the inhibition of MuLVs by deaminase-independent mechanisms of mA3 as well as the inhibition of AKV by a deaminase-dependent mechanism.

1.6. Importance of the work

These studies focus on understanding how mA3 influences MuLV replication. The APOBEC proteins are found throughout the mammalian system and are important in many physiological processes such as the maturation of immunoglobulins, as well as the control of retroviral endogenous elements. In addition they serve as part of the innate immune system to protect hosts against exogenous retrovirus infection. The mechanisms employed by the APOBEC proteins to protect against retrovirus infection are varied as are the mechanisms evolved by retroviruses to circumvent these defenses. A thorough understanding of the interplay between

these factions in different systems may facilitate the development of intervening pharmaceuticals against retroviral infection such as HIV or HTLV in humans. Further, some MuLVs are capable of infecting the human population. In this regard, proliferative diseases in humans have been attributed to MuLV infection acquired during gene therapy trials (49). A thorough knowledge of factors that may influence this interspecies infection are critical for anticipating possible consequences.

Chapter 2: Incorporation of mouse APOBEC3 into MuLV virions decreases the activity and fidelity of reverse transcriptase

Part of the data reported in this chapter have been submitted to Journal of Virology:

Stefano Boi, Angelo Kolokithas, Joyce Shepard, Rebbeca Linwood, Kyle Rosenke, Erik VanDis, Frank Malik and Leonard H. Evans. Incorporation Of Mouse APOBEC3 Into MuLV Virions Decreases The Activity And Fidelity Of Reverse Transcriptase. J Virol. Sub. Feb 10 2014

2.1. Introduction

APOBEC3G (hA3G) in humans and APOBEC3 (mA3) in mice are cytidine deaminases that act on single-stranded DNA during reverse transcription resulting in G \rightarrow A hypermutation of newly synthesized proviral DNA (18,73). Although APOBEC3 family members from both humans and mice inhibit endogenous LTR retrotransposons and retroviruses (11,34,33), exogenous murine leukemia viruses (MuLVs) are relatively insensitive to the actions of murine mA3 (2,11, 13,31,68,73). Several studies, however, have reported partial inhibition of exogenous MuLVs after incorporation of mA3 ranging from 10 to ~90% when assayed in vitro (2,31,46,73,118,119,120). Furthermore, the finding that Rfv3, a resistance gene for Friend erythroleukemia, encodes mA3 and is responsible for a decreased infectious titer of the Friend (Fr-) MuLV (120,130,140) strongly suggests that mA3 inhibits the replication of exogenous MuLVs in vivo.

Exogenous ecotropic MuLVs such as the Fr-MuLV and Moloney (Mo-) MuLV are inhibited through mechanisms that do not appear to involve cytidine deamination (46,73,102). In contrast, the ecotropic MuLV, AKV, isolated from AKR mice has been reported to undergo $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation after virion incorporation of mA3 (73). In an earlier report (68) we found that the infectivity of CasFr^{KP}, an ecotropic MuLV which induces a rapid neurological disease in susceptible mice, was not significantly inhibited by mA3 incorporated into virions harvested from an mA3-expressing cell line. However it was not known how the levels of mA3 incorporation in our experimental protocol compared to the levels achieved by co-transfection of cells with plasmids encoding mA3 and plasmids encoding MuLVs; a protocol commonly employed in in vitro studies of mA3 and MuLVs (11,13,18,46,68,118). In the present study we have examined the infectivity of CasFr^{KP} released from cells expressing varying levels of mA3. We have observed that a higher level of mA3 incorporation does indeed result in a loss of infectivity which is accompanied by a significant loss of virion reverse transcriptase (RT) activity. Moreover, although $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation was not observed, we found a highly significant increase in the overall mutation rate of CasFr^{KP} in the presence of mA3, reflecting a decrease in the fidelity of the enzyme. It seems probable that the loss of activity and fidelity of RT facilitates the observed loss of infectivity. It is likely that the inhibitory action of mA3 is a result of interaction of the restriction factor with the viral polymerase.
2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Plasmids, cells and viruses.

The plasmid encoding the full length mA3 derived from the BALB/c mouse strain was a kind gift from Dan Littman (13). It was provided in the pcDNA3 vector and was tagged at the Cterminus with hemagglutinin (HA) (83). NIH 3T3 (3T3) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium with 10% bovine serum and penicillin/streptomycin. Quantitative RT PCR assays using the forward primer (ACCTGAGCCTGGACATCTTCA), the reverse primer (TGCAAAGATTCTGCTGGTTTTC) FAM-TAMRA probe (TCCCGCCTCand the TACAACATACGGGACC) revealed that mA3 RNA was below the level of detection in 3T3 cells (data not shown). Plasmid DNA encoding mA3 was transfected into 3T3 cells using lipofectamine (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions and selected in media containing 1 mg/ml G418. Single colonies of cells were transferred to new dishes and tested for the expression of the C-terminal HA-tagged mA3 construct after ten passages. Cells stably expressing the C-Terminal HA-tagged mA3 construct (3T3mA3) were maintained in selection media. CasFr^{KP} is a MuLV derived from the wild mouse ecotropic virus CasBrE and contains a short sequence of the F-MuLV, FB29 (106).

2.2.2. Immunoblotting

Cellular mA3 levels were determined in lysates prepared using the CelLytic M Cell Lysis Reagent (Sigma). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 10 minutes to separate the soluble and insoluble fractions. The protein concentration of the soluble fraction was determined using a Bradford assay (Pierce) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Samples were normalized according to their protein concentrations and were adjusted to 1X Laemmli sample buffer containing 5% β -mercaptoethanol and boiled for 10 minutes. The samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE (10% acrylamide, Life Technologies), followed by transfer onto PVDF membranes. Western Blot analysis was performed using a monoclonal anti-HA horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated antibody (Roche).

Immunoblots to detect virion p30 were performed on virions sedimented from the virus stocks in a Beckman SW 50.1 rotor for 1 hr at 50000 rpm. The pelleted virions were resuspended in TSE (100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 7.5), adjusted to 1X Laemmli sample buffer containing 5% β -mercaptoethanol, boiled for 10 minutes, electrophoresed and transferred to PVDF membranes as described above. Immunoblots were performed utilizing a monoclonal antibody R187 to p30 (17) directly conjugated to horseradish peroxidase with the Lightning-Link HRP Antibody Labeling Kit (Novus Biologicals). Virion p30 on immunoblots was quantified using the ImageJ software (122).

2.2.3. Specific infectivity and RT activity

The infectivity of virions released during an 8 hr interval from mA3 expressing cells as well as from cells not expressing mA3 was assessed by a focal immunofluorescence assay (FIA) (128). The specific infectivity's of virions in the samples were compared by normalizing the infectivity to the levels of the p30 capsid (CA) protein, the major structural protein of the virion. A portion of each sample was also assessed for RT activity using the Reverse Transcriptase Assay, colorometric (Roche Applied Science) according to the manufacturer's instructions and normalized to the quantity of virions in the samples assessed by the level of p30.

2.2.4. Mutational Analyses

The effect of virion-associated mA3 on the mutation of viral transcripts was assessed in NIH 3T3 cells infected with viruses harvested from 3T3 cells or from 3T3 cells expressing mA3 (3T3mA3). We derived clonal cell lines after infection of 3T3 or 3T3mA3 cells with the exogenous ecotropic MuLV CasFr^{KP} at a low multiplicity of infection as previously described (88). This served to minimize the initial genetic heterogeneity of the virus as well as to obtain infected clonal cell lines expressing varying amounts of mA3. Mutation rates were assessed after infection of 3T3 cells with virus harvested from 3T3 cell lines or from 3T3/mA3 cell lines expressing varying levels of mA3. Eight hours after infection cellular DNA was isolated using the Aqua-Genomic DNA isolation kit (Aquaplasmid) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Viral DNAs synthesized during the first eight hours of infection were amplified by PCR using Pfx50 polymerase (Life Technologies). Primers specific for different regions of the CasFr^{KP} genome included primers near the gag gene (CasFrKP0234, GTCCATTGTCCTGTGTCTTT-GATTGATTTTA as the forward primer and CasFrKP1193RC, ATTGGGGGAGGGATCCGGTG as the reverse primer): within the *pol* gene (CasFrKP3592, GTCCAGACCAGCAAAAAGCCTT as the forward primer and CasFrKP4687RC, AAGTGGCTCCTAGTTTGGTCAAATC as the reverse primer) and within the env gene (CasFrKP6805, TTGAGAGAGTACACTAGTC as the forward primer and CasFrKP7886RC, TCTGTTCCTGACCTTGATC as the reverse primer). PCR products were resolved on a 3% 3:1 NuSieve agarose gel and were purified using a Zymoclean Gel DNA Recovery kit (Zymo research) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified PCR products were cloned using the Zero Blunt TOPO PCR Cloning Kit for Sequencing (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transformed colonies were isolated from selective LB agar plates containing 50 µg/ml Kanamycin and the selected colonies were grown in 1 ml Kanamycin-containing medium. Their DNA was purified with an Extract-N-Amp[™] Tissue PCR Kit (Sigma) according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA from individual cultures were screened by PCR to confirm the presence of the appropriately sized insert and the PCR products from 96 confirmed clones were purified with a QIAquick 96 PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen) and sequenced using the primers used to generate the amplicons.

In experiments comparing the mutation rates in different regions of the genome, the DNAs isolated from cells 8 hours after infection were amplified using GE Healthcare Ready-to-go beads (Cat # 27-9559-01) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Amplicons were then cloned into the PCR4-TOPO vector using the TOPO TA Cloning Kit for Sequencing (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transformed colonies were isolated on selective LB agar plates contain 250 μ g/ml carbenicillin, their DNAs purified, screened and sequenced as described above. Mutation rates for the different regions of the genome were corrected for background levels of mutation by the Taq PuRe polymerase. Background levels were determined by sequencing amplicons of plasmid DNA encoding the CasFr^{KP} provirus which exhibits minimal genetic heterogeneity.

Groups of sequences generated in these analyses were compiled and compared in the DNAstar Lasergene program, SeqMan. Mutation rates for each type of point mutation (e.g., G-to-A transitions) were calculated as the frequency per nucleotide of that type of mutation in each sequenced clone. The mutation rates for each type of mutation for each clone were averaged to give the mean mutation rate as well as the standard error for that specific type of mutation. The overall mutation rate per clone was calculated as the frequency per nucleotide of all mutations in each clone. The overall mutation rate for the data set was calculated by averaging the rate for each clone to give the mean overall mutation rate and the standard error.

2.2.5. Statistical analysis

The significance of differences between mutation rates was calculated by one way ANOVA. Probability values <0.05 were considered significant. The significance of the sequence preference of bases near mutation sites was calculated by the two-tailed Binomial Test with probability values of <0.05% considered significant. All statistical tests were computed using GraphPad Prism version 6.00 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Incorporation of mA3 into CasFr^{KP} virions reflects the level of mA3 expression in cells

Previous studies examining the effect of virion incorporation of mA3 have utilized cotransfection of 293T cells with plasmids encoding MuLVs and plasmids encoding mA3 (11,13,18,46,73,118). In a recent report we did not observe an influence of virion-associated mA3 on the infectivity of CasFr^{KP} (68). However, is was not clear if the level of expression and incorporation into virions was similar in our analyses using mouse cells expressing mA3 to those using co-transfection of human cells. In this regard, it has been reported that the level of mA3 correlates with the inhibition of infectivitiy (119). In order to examine the effects of different levels of mA3 incorporated into MuLV virions we derived clonal cell lines infected with CasFr^{KP} at a low multiplicity of infection such that only 1 to 5% of the clonal lines were infected (88). This procedure served to minimize virion genomic heterogeneity as well as yield clones expressing different levels of mA3 (Fig. 7). CasFr^{KP}-infected clonal lines selected for study included an NIH 3T3 cell line which does not express mA3, 3T3/CasFr^{KP}, as well as two infected clonal cell lines expressing different levels of HA-tagged mA3 designated 3T3mA3/CasFrKP-1 and 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-2 (Fig. 7). The level of virion incorporation of mA3 into the clones infected with CasFr^{KP} was lower in the virions released from 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-1 which expresses a lower level of mA3 (Fig. 7). These results are consistent with previous studies in which the level of transfected plasmid encoding mA3 corresponded to the level of virion incorporation (13,118,119).



Figure 7. Incorporation of mA3 into virions released from clonal cell lines. The expression of mA3-HA in the clonal cell line, 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP} was determined from an immunoblot of a cellular extract containing 15 µg protein and developed using an anti-HA monoclonal antibody. Virion mA3-HA released from 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP} cells was determined from an immunoblot of a gel of virion proteins contained in 1.5 mls of culture supernatant using the anti-HA antibody while virion p30 was determined from immunoblots of gels of virion proteins contained in 0.075 mls of culture supernatant developed with a monoclonal antibody to p30. Exposure times for the immunoblots of virion p30 were 1 hour while immunoblots of virion mA3-HA were exposed for 5 minutes. Parallel analyses of 3T3/CasFr^{KP} cells and virions, devoid of mA3-HA were included as a controls

2.3.2. Virion associated mA3 suppresses MuLV infectivity

The infectivity's of CasFr^{KP} harvested from the two mA3-expressing clonal cell lines, 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-1 and 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-2, was compared to CasFr^{KP} harvested from NIH 3T3 cells not expressing mA3, 3T3/CasFr^{KP}. Reverse transcriptase (RT) activity has frequently been used to normalize infectivity to virion particles (2,11, 46,102,118,119,120). However, several studies have implicated RT as a possible target of APOBEC3 proteins (9,83,132,143) suggesting that RT activity may be misleading with regard to MuLV specific infectivity. In these studies, we have normalized the infectivity of the viruses using the level of the capsid protein (CA, p30) which is the major structural protein of MuLVs and easily detected by immunoblotting procedures. We found that the specific infectivity of virions released from cells expressing mA3 was significantly diminished compared to virions released from cells devoid of mA3 (Fig. 8). Furthermore, the degree of inhibition correlated with the level of mA3 in the virions (Figs 7 and 8).



Figure 8. Suppression of infectivity by virion-incorporated mA3. The infectivity's of virions released from cells during an 8 hour interval were determined by the FIA and normalized to the levels of p30 present in the samples. The determinations are expressed as a percentage of the mean specific infectivity exhibited by virions released from cells not expressing mA3 (3T3/CasFr^{KP}). Error bars represent the standard error of 3 to 6 determinations. Significant differences determined by one way ANOVA are indicated (**** P<0.0001, *** P>0.0001 to 0.001, *P>0.001 to 0.01). Parallel analyses of 3T3/CasFr^{KP} cells and virions, devoid of mA3-HA were included as a controls.

2.3.3. Decrease in RT activity by virion-incorporated mA3

A change in the efficiency of reverse transcription may reflect an interaction of mA3 with RT and contribute to the loss of infectivity observed in virions that have incorporated mA3. To examine this possibility we determined the RT activity in virions containing different levels of mA3 and normalized the activity to the virion p30 (Fig. 9). As was the case with infectivity, the RT activity was significantly lower in 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-1 and 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-2 than in 3T3/CasFr^{KP} and correlated with the level of virion mA3.



Figure 9. Supression of RT activity by virion-incorporated mA3. The RT activity of virions released from cells during an 8 hour interval were determined and normalized to the levels of p30 present in the samples. RT activity was determined for virions contained in 2.5 mls of supernatant media of the samples assayed for infectivity in Fig. 1. The determinations are expressed as a percentage of the mean specific infectivity exhibited by virions released from cells not expressing mA3 (3T3/CasFr^{KP}). Error bars represent the standard error of 3 to 7 determinations. Significant differences determined by one way ANOVA are indicated (**** P<0.0001, *** P>0.001 to 0.01).

2.3.4. Incorporation of mA3 into virions results in a decrease of RT fidelity

One of the mechanisms of retroviral inhibition by APOBEC3 proteins, including mA3 and human APOBEC3G (hA3G), is through deamination of $C \rightarrow U$ in newly transcribed single stranded DNA resulting in $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation upon subsequent DNA replication. Although most studies examining the effect of mA3 on MuLVs have not revealed hypermutation, one MuLV (AKV) has been reported to be susceptible to hypermutation by mA3 (68). Single stranded DNA containing U can be degraded through the action of enzymes such as uracil DNA glycosylase and apurinic endonuclease (70,123,147) and considerable degradation may occur before integration of the provirus (81,82) masking the extent of hypermutation. Therefore we isolated and examined RT transcripts after only 8 hours of infection to determine the rates of mutation. NIH 3T3 cells were infected with viruses harvested from each of the three clonal cell lines (3T3/CasFr^{KP}, 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-1 or 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-2), and total cellular DNA was isolated. Newly synthesized transcripts were amplified using virus-specific primers from the env gene. The amplicons were gel purified, subsequently cloned and transformed into E-coli. Approximately 90 bacterial colonies encoding individual amplicons were selected from each of the viral infections and their nucleotide sequences determined.

In agreement with other reports (2,31,46,73,118,119,120), analyses of the mutations incurred in the transcripts did not reveal a significant increase in G \rightarrow A mutations attributed to mA3 after infection by either 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-1 or 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}-2 compared to 3T3/CasFr^{KP} (Fig. 10). Transversion mutations were infrequent, however increases in transition mutations other than G \rightarrow A mutations were observed. Notably A \rightarrow G mutations were significantly higher in infections by one of the mA3-containing viruses. C \rightarrow T and T \rightarrow C mutations appear elevated but the differences between the rates observed in mA3-containing viruses and 3T3/CasFr^{KP} did not reach significance (P < 0.05).



Figure 10. Influence of mA3 on individual mutations. 3T3 cells were infected with viruses released from each of the clonal cell lines and the nucleotide sequences of env gene transcripts synthesized during the first 8 hours were determined. The rates of all transition and transversion mutations are shown. Error bars represent the standard error of detected mutations on approximately 90 transcripts from each of the infections totaling about 85,000 bases analyzed for each virus. Significant differences determined by one way ANOVA are indicated (* P>0.01 to 0.05).

Although only the A \rightarrow G mutations were significantly different between the mA3-containing viruses and 3T3/CasFr^{KP}, the inclusion of all of the mutations to calculate overall mutation rates yielded very significant differences (Fig. 11). Interestingly, viruses released from the two mA3-expressing clones did not exhibit significant differences between overall or individual mutation rates after infection.



Figure 11. Influence of mA3 on the overall mutation rate. The rates of all transition and transversion mutations shown in Fig. 10 were combined to calculate the overall mutation rates. Error bars represent the standard error of detected mutations on approximately 90 transcripts from each of the infections totaling about 85,000 bases for each virus. Significant differences determined by one way ANOVA are indicated (*P>0.001 to 0.01).

A bias in the mutation rate in retroviruses has been reported in which the frequency of incurred mutations differs in different regions of the viral genome (16,107,153). In addition to the *env* gene amplicons, we examined the mutation rates in amplicons generated by primers specific to the *pol* gene as well as the *gag*-5'LTR region for mA3-containing virions. A significant differential effect of mA3 in different regions of the genome was not observed (Fig. 12).



Figure 12. Effect of mA3 on mutation rates of different regions of the viral genome. Mutation rates were determined for transcripts from different regions of the viral genome obtained 8 hours after infection of cells with viruses from the 3T3mA3/CasFrKP-2 clonal cell line. The schematic depicts the viral genome and coordinates of the sequences included in the analysis. Bars in the graph represent mutation rate +/- the SEM detected on approximately 90 transcripts totaling about 85,000 bases from each region.

2.3.5. Sequence context of mutations effected by mA3 in CasFr^{KP}

 $G \rightarrow A$ mutations induced by mA3 exhibit a consensus of two 3'-flanking A residues corresponding to a preferred target sequence of 5' TTC on newly synthesized minus strand transcripts for the cytidine deaminase activity (11,62,73,102). In the present study, very significant increases in transition mutations other than G to A transitions were observed. It was of interest to examine the flanking sequences of these mutations to determine if any sequence consensus was evident. The mutation rates of the transcripts of viruses from the two mA3-expressing clones were not found to be significantly different, thus mutations from both were included in these evaluations. The analyses revealed only four instances of flanking sequences that were significantly different from the expected frequency of bases (Fig. 13). A \rightarrow G transitions had significantly elevated incidence of G at the +1 position compared to the expected frequency, while T \rightarrow C transitions exhibited a significantly elevated incidence of C at the -1 position.



Figure 13. Consensus 3' and 5' sequences of mA3-induced transition mutations. The incidence of flanking bases for each of the transition mutations observed in transcripts obtained 8 hours after infection by mA3-containing viruses is shown. Analyses include mutations detected in approximately 180 transcripts totaling about 170,000 bases. Significant elevation of the frequency of bases at each position compared to the expected frequency was calculated by the two-tailed Binomial Test with probability values of <0.05% considered significant (*** P>0.0001 to 0.001, **P>0.001 to 0.01, *P>0.01 to 0.05).

2.4. Discussion

MuLVs have evolved mechanism(s) to evade the action of mA3 however numerous studies have reported partial inhibition of infectivity by the restriction factor ranging from 10 to ~90%. In an earlier study we reported that $CasFr^{KP}$ virions released from cells expressing mA3 did not exhibit a loss of infectivity (68). In that study infectivity was normalized to the level of RT activity in the infectious virus stocks; a frequently employed criterion for calculations of specific virion infectivity (2,11,46,102,118,119,120). In this study we normalized both infectivity and RT activity to the level of virions by quantifying p30, the major structural protein of the virus. We found that both the specific infectivity and the RT activity per virion were significantly decreased in the presence of mA3. Thus, normalization to RT activity in our earlier study may have resulted in an underestimation of the number of virions and an overestimation of the specific infectivity. Further, previous reports of suppression of infectivity by mA3 have utilized virions released from human 293T cells after co-transfection with plasmids encoding mA3 and plasmids encoding MuLV proviruses (2,11,46,102,118,119,120). It is possible that co-transfection procedures yield higher levels of virion-incorporated mA3 than was achieved in our earlier study. In the present report we selected clones of CasFr^{KP}-infected cells expressing higher levels of mA3. A decrease in the specific activity of RT in virions after incorporation of mA3 was observed. Several studies have implicated RT as a possible target of APOBEC3 proteins (9,83,132,146), however few of these studies have investigated if virion-incorporated mA3 influences the efficiency of reverse transcription in cell-free reactions. One recent study reported a decrease in the strong-stop DNA, the initial product of reverse transcription, synthesized by mA3-containing virions in endogenous RT reactions (132). A decrease in strong-stop DNA may reflect an inhibition of an early step in the replication of the genome rather than an actual decrease in the transcriptional activity of the enzyme. Similarly, another report proposed an effect of hA3G on the elongation of HIV-1/ Δvif transcripts in reactions utilizing cell-free virions (9). It was suggested that this activity may contribute to the inhibition of HIV-1 infection and may be the result of steric hindrance of the HIV RT by binding of the hA3G to HIV RNA rather than a direct interaction with the RT. In the present study the CasFr^{KP} RT activity was assessed using exogenous polyA/oligo dT as the substrate/primer. It seems more likely that the inhibition observed resulted from an interaction of mA3 with the RT and a decrease in the inherent transcriptional activity rather than steric inhibition of mA3 bound to the virion RNA.

Significant differences in G \rightarrow A mutation rates were not observed in mA3-containing CasFr^{KP} compared to CasFr^{KP} devoid of mA3, in agreement with other reports of mA3-inhibition of MuLVs (2,31,46,73,118,119,120). However, very significant increases in overall mutation rates were observed, largely as a result of other transition mutations. G \rightarrow A mutations mediated by mA3 have been reported to exhibit a strong consensus of two 3' flanking A residues corresponding to a 5' TTC consensus in the reverse transcribed single stranded DNA; the preferred target of mA3 cytidine deaminase activity (11,62,73,102). A paucity of target sequences in CasFr^{KP} could reflect the low G \rightarrow A mutation rate. In contrast to other MuLVs, G \rightarrow A hypermutation mediated by mA3 has been reported for the ecotropic AKV from AKR mice. A comparison of putative mA3 target sequences from the AKV genome to those of the CasFr^{KP} sequence did not reveal substantial differences in the number of preferred sites (Table 1).

It has been reported that different regions of the genome undergo different rates of G to A hypermutation, notably in a 5' to 3' gradient along the transcripts (16,62,140,153). The gradient of G to A mutations presumably reflects the exposure of single stranded DNA negative strand transcript to the action of the cytidine deaminase activity of mA3. Analyses of the overall mutation

rates of different regions of the viral genome including the LTR/gag region the pol region and the env region revealed no region that was significantly elevated indicating the absence of hypermutation in those regions.

Although the level of mA3 in the virions released from the two mA3-expressing cell lines were dissimilar (Fig. 7), the mutation rates observed in the transcripts from the viruses were not significant different (Figs. 10 and 11). If mA3 interacts with RT in a stoichiometric manner, the mA3 level necessary to affect the fidelity of the polymerase may be low and only a small portion of the virion-incorporated mA3 may be pertinent to this activity. Indeed, it has been estimated that as little as 4 to 7 molecules per virion is sufficient to affect inhibition of infectivity by hA3G (147).

Analysis of the sequence context of the mA3-induced transition mutations considered the two adjacent bases both 3' and 5' of the mutation. Context analysis of all of the transition mutations revealed residues at only four positions whose occurrence was significantly higher than the expected frequency (Fig. 7). A \rightarrow G transitions exhibited 3' adjacent A residues at positions +1 and +2, G \rightarrow A transitions exhibited a 3' adjacent G at the +1 position while T \rightarrow C transitions exhibited a 5' adjacent C at the -1 position. The relevance of these differences to the mutagenic activity of mA3 is unknown, however it is clear that the context of the G to A mutations of CasFr^{KP} (GGN) is distinct from that observed with mA3 induced G to A hypermutation (GAA) (11,62,73,102) and is unlikely to involve cytidine deaminase activity.

The results of this study revealed a direct effect of virion-incorporated mA3 on the RT of the virus which affects the rate of the transcription process as well as the fidelity of the enzyme. These results suggest a direct interaction of mA3 with the RT that facilitates a marked loss of infectivity. A loss of fidelity of RT as a result of mA3 incorporation has not been previously reported and

may represent another cytidine deaminase-independent mechanism by which APOBEC proteins act to inhibit retroviral replication.

MuLV	C (%)	TC (%)	TTC (%)
CasFr ^{KP}	2050 (24.9%) ²	593 (7.2%)	149 (1.7%)
AKV	2055 (25.5%)	585 (7.0%)	148 (1.8%)

TABLE 1. Putative mA3 target sequences of $CasFr^{KP}$ and AKV^1

¹Target sequences for mA3 cytidine deaminase sites were compiled from the complementary sequences of the MuLVs.
²The sequence of CasFr^{KP} was deduced from the sequences of the two parental MuLVs, CasBrE and FB29 (accession nos. X57540and Z11128, resp.). The AKV sequence is from (accession no. J01998).

Chapter 3: The ecotropic AKV MuLV undergoes $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation independent of augmented APOBEC3

3.1. Introduction

Mouse APOBEC3 (mA3) is a cytidine deaminase that acts on single-stranded DNA during reverse transcription by murine retroviruses resulting in $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation of newly synthesized proviral DNA (18,73). Although mA3 inhibits endogenous retroviruses (35), exogenous murine leukemia viruses (MuLVs) such as Friend (Fr-) MuLV and Moloney (Mo-) do not undergo G \rightarrow A hypermutation upon infection in the presence of mA3 (73,2,10,13,31,68). AKV is an endogenous ecotropic MuLV isolated from thymoma-prone AKR mice and can be propagated as an exogenous ecotropic MuLV (115,116). In contrast to other MuLVs, AKV has been reported to undergo $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation upon infection in the presence of mA3 (73). The mutations exhibited a strong consensus of two 3' flanking A residues, GAA, corresponding to TTC in the cDNA transcript sequence which is the target of cytidine deamination. In a recent study, we found that an MuLV that has incorporated an HA-tagged mA3 (mA3-HA) does indeed exhibit a significantly higher level of mutations. However, the mutations incurred in the presence of mA3-HA corresponded to transition mutations other than $G \rightarrow A$. The mutations did not exhibit a strong consensus of flanking bases suggesting a loss of fidelity of the reverse transcriptase induced by mA3-HA rather than recognition of a nucleotide target sequence. In this study we have examined the mutations incurred by AKV in the presence or absence of mA3-HA. Surprisingly, we observed $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutations in transcripts generated after infection by viruses released from cells that did not express mA3-HA. The mutations exhibited a strong consensus of flanking bases similar to that reported for mA3. Infection by AKV released from cells expressing mA3HA exhibited a nearly identical $G \rightarrow A$ mutation rate and consensus of flanking bases. Furthermore, an unequal distribution of mutations was observed such that many of the transcripts exhibited multiple mutations while the majority of transcripts exhibited none. Our studies suggest that AKV is very susceptible to an restriction factor endogenous to 3T3 cells that exhibits cytidine deaminase activity that is active in only a portion of virions released from cells The observation that the incorporation of mA3 did not alter the extent of distribution of the transcripts suggests that the restriction factor may be distinct from mA3.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Plasmids, cells and viruses

The maintenance of cell lines, the derivation of cells expressing mA3 by transfection of plasmids and the use of viruses in this study were as described in chapter 2.2.1. In addition AKV was derived by transfection of NIH 3T3 cells with the molecular clone 623 (80).

3.2.2. Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting procedures were performed as described in chapter 2.2.2.

3.2.3. Mutational Analyses

The effect of virion-associated mA3 on the mutation of viral transcripts was assessed in NIH 3T3 cells infected with viruses harvested from 3T3 cells or from 3T3 cells expressing mA3 (3T3mA3). We derived clonal cell lines after infection of 3T3 or 3T3mA3 cells with the exogenous ecotropic MuLV CasFr^{KP} and AKV at a low multiplicity of infection as previously described (88). This served to minimize the initial genetic heterogeneity of the virus as well as to obtain infected clonal cell lines expressing varying amounts of mA3. Mutation rates were assessed after infection of 3T3 cells with virus harvested from 3T3 cell lines or from 3T3/mA3 cell lines. Eight hours after infection cellular DNA was isolated using the AquaGenomic DNA isolation kit (Aquaplasmid) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Viral DNAs synthesized during the first eight hours of infection were amplified by PCR using Pfx50 polymerase (Life Technologies). Primers within the env gene of CasFrKP (CasFrKP6805, TTGAGAGAGTACAC-TAGTC as the forward primer and CasFrKP7886RC, TCTGTTCCTGACCTTGATC as the reverse primer). Viral DNAs from AKV-infected cells were amplified using AKV env-specific primers (AKV 6899 CACAAATTGACCTTGTCCG as the forward primer, AKV 7964RC CCCGGTACTTTCCAGCC as the reverse primer). PCR products were resolved on a 3% 3:1

NuSieve agarose gel and were purified using a Zymoclean Gel DNA Recovery kit (Zymo research) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified PCR products were cloned using the Zero Blunt TOPO PCR Cloning Kit for Sequencing (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transformed colonies were isolated from selective LB agar plates containing 50 µg/ml Kanamycin and the selected colonies were grown in 1ml Kanamycin-containing medium. Their DNA was purified with an Extract-N-AmpTM Tissue PCR Kit (Sigma) according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA from individual cultures were screened by PCR to confirm the presence of the appropriately sized insert and the PCR products from 96 confirmed clones were purified with a QIAquick 96 PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen) and sequenced using the primers used to generate the amplicons.

Groups of sequences generated in these analyses were compiled and compared in the DNAstar Lasergene program, SeqMan. Mutation rates for each type of point mutation (e.g., G-to-A transitions) were calculated as the frequency per nucleotide of that type of mutation in each sequenced clone. The mutation rates for each type of mutation for each clone were averaged to give the mean mutation rate as well as the standard error for that specific type of mutation. The overall mutation rate per clone was calculated as the frequency per nucleotide of all mutations in each clone. The overall mutation rate for the data set was calculated by averaging the rate for each clone to give the mean overall mutation rate and the standard error.

3.2.4. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis were performed as described in chapter 2.2.5.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. AKV undergoes G→A hypermutation in NIH 3T3 cells in the absence of mA3-HA expression.

AKV has been reported to undergo G \rightarrow A hypermutation upon incorporation of mA3 into virions. We have recently observed that another MuLV (CasFr^{KP}) does not undergo G \rightarrow A hypermutation upon incorporation of mA3 but rather, undergoes a loss of RT activity as well as a loss of fidelity of the enzyme as evidenced by a significant increase in transition mutations other than G \rightarrow A. In order to study the differences between the two MuLVs with regard to their interactions with mA3, we wished to obtain baseline mutation rates of both viruses in the absence of mA3. Clonal NIH 3T3 cell lines infected at a low multiplicity of infection (MOI) with either AKV or CasFr^{KP} were established and viruses released from the lines were used to infect new NIH 3T3 cell lines. Viral DNA transcripts synthesized during the intitial 8 hours after infection were amplified by PCR, the amplicons cloned and subsequently sequenced. These analyses revealed a marked difference in the patterns of mutations observed between the two MuLVs (Fig. 14A). The G \rightarrow A mutation rate of AKV was much higher than the G \rightarrow A mutation rate of Cas-Fr^{KP} resulting in a significantly higher overall mutation rate for AKV (Fig. 14B).



Individual Mutation Rates

Overall Mutation Rates

Figure 14. Mutation rates of AKV and CasFrKP MuLVs in the presence or absence of mA3-HA. Mutations incurred in transcripts of AKV or CasFrKP at 8 hr post-infection were determined. **A)** CasFrKP and AKV individual mutation rates in the absence of mA3 for each of the possible point mutations. **B)** Overall (total) mutation rates for CasFrKP and AKV in the absence of mA3. **C)** CasFrKP and AKV individual mutation rates in the presence of mA3 for each of the possible point mutation rates for CasFrKP and AKV in the absence of mA3. **C)** CasFrKP and AKV individual mutation rates for CasFrKP and AKV in the possible point mutations. **D)** Overall (total) mutation rates for CasFrKP and AKV in the presence of mA3. The bars show the mean and SEM for each rate. P values were calculated by the students t test with P<0.05 considered significant.

3.3.2. $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation of AKV is not augmented in the presence of mA3

Cell lines expressing mA3-HA were infected with AKV or CasFr^{KP} at a low MOI and clonal lines were established. Both of the clonal cell lines expressed mA3-HA and both released virions that had incorporated mA3-HA (Fig. 15). The level of mA3-HA in the AKV virions appears to be slightly higher than in the CasFr^{KP} virions even though the expression of mA3 in the cells infected with CasFr^{KP} was higher than that expressed by cells infected with AKV.

The mutation frequencies of mutations upon infection of 3T3 cells by the viruses released from each of the mA3-HA clonal cell lines was determined (Fig. 14C). In agreement with our earlier observations (submitted for publication) the mutation rates for transition mutations other than $G \rightarrow A$ transitions were elevated resulting in a significant change (P=0.0072) in the overall mutation rate of CasFr^{KP} (Fig. 14B and 14D). In contrast, AKV did not exhibit significant changes in mutation rates upon incorporation of mA3-HA. Indeed, the overall mutation rates of AKV and CasFr^{KP} were not significantly different in the presence of incorporated mA3 (Fig. 14D).



Figure 15. Immunoblots of **3T3**, **3T3/AKV** and **3T3mA3** cell and virions. The expression of mA3-HA in the clonal cell line, 3T3mA3/CasFr^{KP}, 3T3/AKV and 3T3mA3/AKV was determined from an immunoblot of a cellular extract containing 15 µg protein and developed using an anti-HA monoclonal antibody. Virion mA3-HA released from 3T3mA3 cells was determined from an immunoblot of a gel of virion proteins contained in 1 ml of culture supernatant using the anti-HA antibody while virion p30 was determined from immunoblots of gels of virion proteins contained in 0.1 ml of culture supernatant developed with a monoclonal antibody to p30. Exposure times for the immunoblots of virion p30 were 5 minutes while immunoblots of virion mA3-HA were exposed for 1 hour.

3.3.3. The sequence context of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in AKV is similar to the sequence context of mA3-induced $G \rightarrow A$ mutations.

 $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in AKV as well as other retroviruses susceptible to mA3, e.g., HIV, exhibit a preferred target sequence corresponding to TT<u>C</u> in the negative sense transcript with <u>C</u> the base that becomes deaminated (73,10,62,102). Determination of the the sequence context of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in AKV transcripts observed in the presence and absence of mA3-HA revealed a strong consensus target sequence consistent with the cytidine deaminase target of mA3 (Fig. 16). Indeed, a very conserved consensus sequence flanking the 5' and 3' ends of the cytidine target was observed corresponding to TT<u>C</u>AA in the negative sense transcript. A strong consensus flanking both the 5' and 3' sides of the cytidine deaminase target has not previously been reported.

3T3/AKV



3T3mA3/AKV

Figure 16. Consensus target for cytidine deamination of AKV transcripts. The sequence context of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in transcripts generated after an 8 hr infection were determined for the two bases flanking the 3' and 5' side of the mutation site. The consensus sequences of the observed $G \rightarrow A$ mutation as well as the consensus of the (–)strand DNA flanking the cytidine deaminase target C residue are shown. Significance of the frequency of flanking based was calculated by the two-tailed Binomial Test (**** P<0.0001).

3.3.4. G→A mutations are disproportionate among AKV transcripts

When compiling the results of the AKV mutations it was noted in both the analyses (in the presence or absence of mA3) that the majority of the transcripts were devoid of mutations while some of the transcripts exhibited multiple mutations (Tables 3 and 4). In both cases nearly 100% of the mutations were present in less than 25% of the transcripts.

The results of these analyses were tabulated and subjected to a chi-square test for compliance to a random distribution. It was found that the data were inconsistent with a random distribution of mutations with a P value of <0.0001.

Mutations Per Transcript (#)	% Mutations	%* Transcripts
0 (64)	0	74
1 (16)	49	19
2 (2)	12	2
3 (3)	27	3
4 (1)	12	1

TABLE 2. Distribution of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in 3T3/AKV

*The distribution of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in AKV transcripts in the absence of mA3 after 8 hrs. of infection are tabulated. The percent of transcripts were rounded down resulting in less than 100%. The data are not consistent with a random distribution of mutations using a chi-square test with p<0.0001.

TABLE 3. Distribution of $G \rightarrow A$ mutations in 3T3mA3/AKV

Mutations Per Transcript (#)	% Mutations	%* Transcripts
0 (54)	0	81
1 (6)	23	9
2 (3)	23	4
3 (2)	23	3
4 (2)	31	3

*The distribution of G \rightarrow A mutations in AKV transcripts in the presence of mA3 after 8 hrs. of infection are tabulated. The data are not consistent with a random distribution of mutations using a chi-square test with p<0.0001.

3.4. Discussion

This investigation was initiated with the aim of comparing the effect of mA3 on two MuLVs that have been reported to be inhibited by two distinct mechanisms. AKV has been reported to undergo G \rightarrow A hypermutation (73) while our studies have established that the MuLV, CasFr^{KP} does not undergo G \rightarrow A hypermutation but rather undergoes a significant inhibition of RT activity and an increase in overall mutation rate reflecting a loss of RT fidelity. These findings correlate with a significant loss of infectivity. We unexpectedly found that AKV exhibited G \rightarrow A hypermutation in the absence of detectable mA3 incorporation into virions. Furthermore, the incorporation of mA3 into AKV virions did not augment hypermutation of the AKV transcripts. In contrast, Langlois et al., (73) reported that incorporation of mA3 into AKV virions resulted in G \rightarrow A hypermutation. Although the mutation rate of AKV in the absence of incorporation of human APOBEC2 suggesting that mA3 was necessary for G \rightarrow A hypermutation of AKV.

The discrepancy between the results reported here and those of Langlois et al., (73) may be the result of the levels of mA3 incorporated into the virions as well as the source of the AKV stock. In that study AKV stocks were obtained after co-transfection of human cells with a plasmid encoding mA3 and a separate plasmid encoding AKV. A much higher level of mA3 incorporation could account for their observation that virion incorporated mA3 altered the extent of hypermutation. Our AKV stocks were obtained from infected mouse NIH 3T3 cells or from NIH 3T3 cells that were expressing HA-tagged mA3. The incorporation of a restriction factor endogenous to mouse cells but not to human cells could explain why hypermutation occurred in the absence of augmented mA3-HA. A strong sequence consensus for the cytidine deaminase targets was ob-

served in the minus strand reverse transcript (TTCAA) suggesting mA3-mediated cytidine deamination in agreement with previous studies (18,73,35,2). However a consensus on both the 3' and 5' flanking sequences has not been previously observed with either mA3 or mouse APO-BEC1 which has also been reported to restrict MuLVs (2).

Another pertinent observation was that the distribution of $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutations was skewed, with a small percentage of the transcripts exhibiting all of the mutations. This result is reminiscent of the results of Pathak and Temin (99) who noted $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation in a small proportion of transcripts of retroviral vectors under investigation. In their studies it was speculated that hypermutation was the result of aberrant polymerases in a small proportion of the virions. In the present analysis an aberrant polymerase is very unlikely. The AKV virus stocks were obtained from clonal cell lines infected at a low multiplicity of infection and should have only one or at most a few proviral copies. Moreover, the results were obtained with progeny viruses from two independent clonal lines, yet both populations yielded nearly identical distribution patterns. It seems more likely that only a portion of the AKV virions released from NIH 3T3 cells have encapsulated a cytidine deaminase restriction factor similar or identical to mA3.

Although we have previously examined NIH 3T3 cells by quantitative PCR and found the level of mA3 mRNA to be undetectable, it is possible that a low level of mA3 is expressed and is responsible for the hypermutation of AKV transcripts we have observed. To investigate this possibility we utilized a newly available antibody to mA3 in immunoblotting procedures. Immunoblots of AKV-infected and uninfected 3T3 cells, as well as 3T3 cells expressing mA3-HA were developed with an anti-HA antibody and also with the commercial anti-mA3 antibody (Fig. 17).


Figure 17. Immunoblots of 3T3, 3T3/AKV and 3T3mA3 cells. Protein extracts from uninfected 3T3 cells, 3T3 cells infected with AKV (3T3/AKV) and uninfected 3T3 cells expressing an HA-tagged mA3 (3T3mA3) were electrophoresed, blotted and developed with a commercially available antiserum to mA3. The membrane was stripped and redeveloped with an antibody to HA to detect the HA-labeled mA3 expressed in 3T3mA3 cells.

The anti-HA antibody detected the ~50 kDa protein in the 3T3mA3 sample, as expected, however the new commercially available mA3 antibody detected a protein of ~70 kDa in all three samples. Notably, the new antibody did not detect the mA3-HA present in the 3T3mA3 cells. These results suggested that the new antibody did not detect the HA-labeled mA3 even though the peptide used to elicit the antibody was encoded by the mA3-HA plasmid. It was conceivable that a previously undescribed form of mA3 was expressed in the 3T3 cells and that the epitope in the mA3-HA was masked. Alternatively, the new mA3 antibody may simply detect a cross-reactive protein present in the cells. To resolve this issue an immunoblot was performed with samples of cell extracts, samples of virion preparations and a mock virion preparation from uninfected 3T3 cells using the putative mA3 antibody (Fig. 18). The ~70 kDa protein was found in all samples including the mock virion preparation. Again, the antiserum failed to detect the mA3-HA

epitope. These results suggest that the antibody detects a cross-reactive ~70Da protein that is present in 3T3 cells and is released into the growth media, possibly as a vesicular element that pellets with virions.



Figure 18. Immunoblots of cellular protein, virion preparations and mock virion preparations with a commercially available antibody to mA3. Protein extracts from 3T3 cells, 3T3 cells infected with AKV (3T3/AKV), 3T3 cells infected with CasFr^{KP} (3T3/ CasFr^{KP}) and uninfected 3T3 cells expressing mA3 (3T3mA3) as well as virion preparations of AKV, CasFr^{KP} and a mock virion preparation from uninfected 3T3 cells were electrophoresed, blotted and develped with a commercially available antiserum to mA3.

In the absence of a reliable reagent to detect endogenous mA3 we are unable to determine if it is the incorporation of endogenous mA3 or some other restriction factor into AKV virions that mediates the G \rightarrow A hypermutation of AKV. However, if only trace amounts of mA3 are necessary for the hypermutation, it might be expected that even a small amount of mA3-HA incorporation would have effected a higher rate of hypermutation as well as elimination of the skew in the distribution of mutations. This was not observed suggesting that another restriction factor may be endogenous to mouse cells. In this regard, additional quantitative PCR experiments utilizing different sets of primers have not detected mA3 mRNA (data not shown). An approach to the resolution of this problem may be the utilization of knock out mouse cells in which various restriction factors have been eliminated.

Chapter 4

4.1. Conclusions

APOBEC3 proteins are cytidine deaminases that are potent inhibitors of retrovirus replication. These restriction factors induce $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation as a result of deamination of cytidine in the single stranded transcripts generated by reverse transcription during replication. Mouse APOBEC3 (mA3) effectively inhibits the replication of endogenous retroelements whereas most exogenous murine leukemia viruses (MuLV) are largely resistant to the action(s) of mA3. However, several studies have reported significant inhibition of infectivity by virionassociated mA3 that did not appear to be the result of $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation. Recent studies have reported that MuLV glyco-Gag is involved it the resistance to mA3 during the retroviral replication. (68,92,132). It is not completely clear how mA3 is able to restrict MuLVs, and why in some cases, the inhibition proceeds by a deaminase-independent mechanism and in others with a deaminase-dependent mechanism (18,19,79,94,140,104).

In this work, we showed that CasFr^{KP} which encodes gGag does exhibit inhibition of infection, RT activity and an increase in the overall mutation rate if a sufficient level of mA3 is incorporated into the virion. However no G to A hypermutation was observed at any level of mA3. These results suggest a direct interaction of mA3 with the RT that facilitates a marked loss of infectivity. A loss of fidelity of RT as a result of mA3 incorporation has not been previously reported and may represent another cytidine deaminase-independent mechanism by which APO-BEC proteins act to inhibit retroviral replication.

In contrast to CasFr^{KP}, AKV, an ecotropic MuLV isolated from AKR mice, has been reported to undergo hypermutation mediated by mA3 (73). In this report we confirm that AKV does undergo $G \rightarrow A$ hypermutation upon infection of 3T3 cells, however hypermutation is not augmented in

viruses that have incorporated HA-tagged mA3. Furthermore a strong sequence consensus was observed in the minus strand reverse transcript (TTCAA) suggesting mA3-mediated cytidine deamination in agreement with previous studies (11,62,73,102). However a consensus on both the 3' and 5' has not been previously observed with either mA3 or mouse APOBEC1 which has also been reported to restrict MuLVs (102). Hypermutations were not distributed randomly with 100% of the G to A mutations found on about 20 to 25% of the transcripts with some individual transcripts containing up to 15% of the total G to A mutations. These results suggest that AKV virions have incorporated an endogenous cytidine deaminase restriction factor upon release from 3T3 cells that exerts its activity on only a portion of the virions. This might be the result of incorporation of the factor in only a low proportion of virions. In this regard it has been reported that hA3G is able to inactivate target viruses with as little as 4 to 7 molecules per virion.

4.2. Future Directions

- The glycosylated gag proteins (gGag) of MuLVs have been implicated in the evasion of exogenous MuLVs from the action of mA3. We have shown that mA3 incorporation at high levels into virions encoding gGag can result in an inhibition of RT and a decrease in the fidelity of the enzyme. It is not known if a similar mechanism is responsible for the increased susceptibility of gGag-negative mutant MuLVs to mA3. Investigations of the effect of mA3 on the RT of gGag-negative mutants may elucidate this issue.
- MuLVs are also inhibited by cellular mA3 upon infection by gGag-negative viruses that have not encapsulated mA3. It would be of interest to determine if the mechanism of inhibition by cellular mA3 is the same as inhibition by virion-associated mA3. Mutation studies on these two manners of inhibition may be enlightening.

- mA3 appears to inhibit the infectivity of MuLVs by two different mechanisms. G→A hypermutations are observed in AKV while other MuLVs such as CasFr^{KP} do not exhibit hypermutation. The construction of chimeric viruses between CasFr^{KP} and AKV may define what regions of the viral genome are responsible for these differences. Chimeras involving the protective gGag encoding regions may be of particular interest.
- Our current studies suggest that G→A hypermutation of AKV may be mediated by an endogenous restriction factor of mouse cells. These studies will be extended to investigate the hypermutation of AKV originating from different cell types including cells of different species such as human 293T cells. In addition, hypermutation of AKV originating from KO mouse cells that do not express various restriction factors will be investigated.

Reference List

- 1. Abelson, H. T., and L. S. Rabstein. 1970. Lymphosarcoma: virus-induced thymicindependent disease in mice. Cancer Res 30:2213-2222.
- Abudu, A., A. Takaori-Kondo, T. Izumi, K. Shirakawa, M. Kobayashi, A. Sasada, K. Fukunaga, and T. Uchiyama. 2006. Murine retrovirus escapes from murine APOBEC3 via two distinct novel mechanisms. Curr.Biol. 16:1565-1570.
- 3. Albin, J. S., and R. S. Harris. 2010. Interactions of host APOBEC3 restriction factors with HIV-1 in vivo: implications for therapeutics. Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine 12:e4.
- 4. Albritton, L. M., T. L.seng, D. Scadden, and J. M. Cunningham. 1989. A putative murine ecotropic retrovirus receptor gene encodes a multiple membrane-spanning protein and confers susceptibility to virus infection. Cell, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 659–666.
- 5. **Baltimore, D.** 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. Nature. 226(5252):1 226:1209-1211.
- 6. **Barbacid, M., and S. A. Aaronson.** 1978. Membrane properties of the gag gene-coded p15 protein of mouse type-C RNA tumor viruses. J Biol Chem 253:1408-1414.
- Barbacid, M., J. R. Stephenson, and S. A. Aaronson. 1976. gag Gene of mammalian type-C RNA tumour viruses. Nature 262:554-559.
- Bernhard, W. 1958. Electron microscopy of tumor cells and tumor viruses; a review. Cancer Res 18:491-509.
- 9. **Bishop, K. N., M. Verma, E. Y. Kim, S. M. Wolinsky, and M. H. Malim**. 2008. APOBEC3G inhibits elongation of HIV-1 reverse transcripts. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000231.
- 10. **Bishop, K. N., R. K. Holmes, A. M. Sheehy, and M. H. Malim.** 2004. APOBEC-mediated editing of viral RNA. Science (New York) 305:645.
- Bishop, K. N., R. K. Holmes, A. M. Sheehy, N. O. Davidson, S. J. Cho, and M. H. Malim.
 2004. Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. Curr.Biol. 14:1392-1396.

- 12. Brown, P. O., J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. 1997. Integration in Retroviruses. Eds., pp. 161–203, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, NY, USA.
- 13. **Browne, E. P. and D. R. Littman**. 2008. Species-specific restriction of apobec3-mediated hypermutation. J.Virol. 82:1305-1313.
- Buchschacher, G. L. 2002. Lentiviral Vector Systems for Gene Transfer. Lands bioscience. Eurekah.com (Book)
- 15. Cen, S., F. Guo, M. Niu, J. Saadatmand, J. Deflassieux, and L. Kleiman. 2004. The interaction between HIV-1 Gag and APOBEC3G. J Biol Chem 279:33177-33184.
- Chelico, L., P. Pham, P. Calabrese, and M. F. Goodman. 2006. APOBEC3G DNA deaminase acts processively 3' --> 5' on single-stranded DNA. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:392-399.
- Chesebro, B., W. Britt, L. Evans, K. Wehrly, J. Nishio, and M. Cloyd. 1983. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies reactive with murine leukemia viruses: use in analysis of strains of friend MCF and Friend ecotropic murine leukemia virus. Virology 127:134-148.
- Chiu, Y. L. and W. C. Greene. 2008. The APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases: an innate defensive network opposing exogenous retroviruses and endogenous retroelements. Annu.Rev.Immunol. 26:317-353.
- Chiu, Y-L., and W.C. Greene. 2006. Multifaceted antiviral actions of APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases. Trends in Immunology 27(6):291-297.
- Chun, R., and H. Fan. 1994. Recovery of Glycosylated gag Virus from Mice Infected with a Glycosylated gag-Negative Mutant of Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus. J Biomed Sci 1:218-223.
- Coffin, J. 1984. Structure of the retroviral genome. In the "RNA tumor viruses". (Furmanski,
 P. et al., Eds.) Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- 22. **Coffin, J. M., S. H. Hughes, H. E. Varmus.** 1997. Editors. Cold Spring Harbor (NY): Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 23. **Collett, M. S. and A. J. Faras**. 1977. In vitro transcription of theavian oncornavirus genome by the RNA-directed DNA polymerase: analysis of DNA transcripts synthesized in reconstructed enzymatic reactions. J. Virol. 22:86-96.

- 24. Collett, M. S., P. Dierks, J. F. Cahill, A. J. Faras, and J. T. Parsons. 1977. Terminally repeated sequences in the avian sarcoma virus RNA genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74:2389-2393.
- Conticello, S. G., C. J. F. Thomas, S. K. Petersen-Mahrt, and M. S. Neuberger. 2005. Evolution of the AID/APOBEC family of polynucleotide (deoxy) cytidine deaminases. Molecular Biology and Evolution 22(2):367-377.
- Crawford, S., S. P. Goff. 1985. A deletion mutation in the 5' part of the pol gene of Moloney murine leukemia virus blocks proteolytic processing of the gag and pol polyproteins. J Virol. 53(3):899-907.
- Czernilofsky, A. P., A. D. Levinson, H. E. Varmus, J. M. Bishop, E. Tischer, and H. M. Goodman. 1980. Nucleotide sequence of an avian sarcoma virus oncogene (src) and proposed amino acid sequence for gene product. Nature 287(5779):198-287:198-203.
- 28. **Das, D., and M. M. Georgiadis.** 2004. The crystal structure of the monomeric reverse transcriptase from Moloney murine leukemia virus. Structure, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 819–829.
- 29. **De Silva, S., and L. Wu.** 2011. TRIM5 acts as more than a retroviral restriction factor. Viruses. Jul; 3(7):1204-9.
- 30. **Desfarges, S., and A. Ciuffi.** 2010. Retroviral Integration Site Selection. Viruses, 2, 111-130.
- 31. Doehle, B. P., A. Schafer, H. L. Wiegand, H. P. Bogerd, and B. R. Cullen. 2005. Differential sensitivity of murine leukemia virus to APOBEC3-mediated inhibition is governed by virion exclusion. J Virol 79:8201-8207.
- 32. **Dube, D. K. and L. A. Loeb.** 1976. On the association of reverse transcriptase with polynucleotide templates during catalysis. Biochemistry 15:3605-3611.
- 33. Esnault, C., J. Millet, O. Schwartz, and T. Heidmann. 2006. Dual inhibitory effects of APOBEC family proteins on retrotransposition of mammalian endogenous retroviruses. Nucleic Acids Res. 34:1522-1531.
- 34. Esnault, C., O. Heidmann, F. Delebecque, M. Dewannieux, D. Ribet, A. J. Hance, T. Heidmann, and O. Schwartz. 2005. APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroviruses. Nature 433:430-433.
- 35. Esnault, C., S. Priet, D. Ribet, O. Heidmann, and T. Heidmann. 2008. Restriction by APOBEC3 proteins of endogenous retroviruses with an extracellular life cycle: ex vivo

effects and in vivo "traces" on the murine IAPE and human HERV-K elements. Retrovirology 5: 75.

- Evans L. H., S. Dresler, D. Kabat. 1977. Synthesis and glycosylation of polyprotein precursors to the internal core proteins of Friend murine leukemia virus. J Virol 24(3):865–874.
- Felsenstein, K. M., and S. P. Goff. 1988. Expression of the gag-pol fusion protein of Moloney murine leukemia virus without gag protein does not induce virion formation or proteolytic processing. J. Virol. vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 2179–2182.
- 38. Feng, Y. X., H. Yuan, A. Rein, and J. G. Levin. 1992. Bipartite signal for read-through suppression in murine leukemia virus mRNA: an eight-nucleotide purine-rich sequence immediately downstream of the gag termination codon followed by an RNA pseudoknot. J. Virol. vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 5127–5132.
- 39. Feng, Y., and L. Chelico. 2011. Intensity of deoxycytidine deamination of HIV-1 proviral DNA by the retroviral restriction factor APOBEC3G is mediated by the noncatalytic domain. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 286(13): 11415-11426.
- 40. Fleissner, E., and E. Tress. 1973. Isolation of a ribonucleoprotein structure from oncornaviruses. J Virol 12:1612-1615.
- 41. **Friend, C.** 1957. Cell-free transmission in adult Swiss mice of a disease having the character of a leukemia. J Exp Med 105:307-318.
- 42. Graffi, A., H. Bielka, F. Fey, F. Scharsach, and R. Weiss. 1955. Frequency occurrence of leukemia after injection of sarcoma filtrates. Wien Med Wochenschr 105:61-64.
- 43. Grandgenett, D. P., A. C. Vora, and R. D. Schiff. 1978. A 32,000-dalton nucleic acidbinding protein from avian retravirus cores possesses DNA endonuclease activity. Virology 89:119-132.
- 44. **Grandgenett, D. P., G. F. Gerard, and M. Green.** 1972. Ribonuclease H: a ubiquitous activity in virions of ribonucleic acid tumor viruses. J Virol 10:1136-1142.
- 45. **Green, M. and M. Cartas.** 1972. The genome of RNA tumor viruses contains polyadenylic acid sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 69:791-794.
- Groom, H. C., M. W. Yap, R. P. Galao, S. J. Neil, and K. N. Bishop. 2010. Susceptibility of xenotropic murine leukemia virus-related virus (XMRV) to retroviral restriction factors. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 107:5166-5171.

- 47. **Gross, L. 1951.** Spontaneous leukemia developing in C3H mice following inoculation in infancy, with AK-leukemic extracts, or AK-embrvos. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 76:27-32.
- 48. **Guntaka, R. V.** 1993. Transcription termination and polyadenylation in retroviruses. Microbiol Rev 57:511-521.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., A. Garrigue, G. P. Wang, J. Soulier, A. Lim, E. Morillon, E. Clappier, L. Caccavelli, E. Delabesse, K. Beldjord, V. Asnafi, E. MacIntyre, L. Dal Cortivo, I. Radford, N. Brousse, F. Sigaux, D. Moshous, J. Hauer, A. Borkhardt, B. H. Belohradsky, U. Wintergerst, M. C. Velez, L. Leiva, R. Sorensen, N. Wulffraat, S. Blanche, F. D. Bushman, A. Fischer, and M. Cavazzana-Calvo. 2008. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. Volume 118 Number 9.
- Hakata, Y., and N.R. Landau. 2006. Reversed functional organization of mouse and human APOBEC3 cytidine deaminase domains. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 281(48):36624-36631.
- Hare, S., F. Di Nunzio, A. Labeja, J.Wang, A. Engelman, and P. Cherepanov. 2009. Structural basis for functional tetramerization of lentiviral integrase. PLoS Pathogens, vol. 5, no. 7, Article ID e1000515.
- 52. **Hartley, J. W. and W. P. Rowe.** 1976. Naturally occurring murine leukemia viruses in wild mice: characterization of a new "amphotropic" class. J. Virol. 19:19-25.
- 53. Haseltine, W. A., A. M. Maxam, and W. Gilbert. 1977. Rous sarcoma virus genome is terminally redundant: the 5' sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74:989-993.
- 54. **Hatziioannou, T., S. Cowan, and P.D. Bieniasz.** 2004. Capsid-dependent and –independent postentry restriction of primate lentivirus tropism in rodent cells. J. Virol. 78(2):1006-1011.
- 55. Hatziioannou, T., D. Perez-Caballero, A. Yang, S. Cowan, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2004. Retrovirus resistance factors Ref1 and Lv1 are species-specific variants of TRIM5α. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101:10774–10779.
- 56. **Heard, J. M. and O. Danos.** 1991. An amino-terminal fragment of the Friend murine leukemia virus envelope glycoprotein binds the ecotropic receptor. J. Virol. 65.
- 57. Henderson, L. E., R. Sowder, T. D. Copeland, G. Smythers, and S. Oroszlan. 1984. Quantitative separation of murine leukemia virus proteins by reversed-phase high-pressure

liquid chromatography reveals newly described gag and env cleavage products. J. Virol. vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 492–500.

- Hindmarsh, P. And J. Leis. 1999. Retroviral DNA Integration. Microbiology And Molecular Biology Reviews, p. 836–843.
- 59. Hino, S, J. R. Stephenson, S. A. Aaronson. 1975. Antigenic determinants of the 70,000 molecular weight glycoprotein of woolly monkey type C RNA virus. J Immunol. 115(4):922-7.
- 60. Holmes, R.K., M.H Malim, and K.N. Bishop. 2007. APOBEC-mediated viral restriction: not simply editing? TRENDS in Biochemical Sciences 32(3):118-128.
- 61. **Ikeda, H., W. Hardy, Jr., E. Tress, and E. Fleissner**. 1975. Chromatographic separation and antigenic analysis of proteins of the oncornaviruses. V. Identification of a new murine viral protein, p15(E). J. Virol. 16:53-61.
- 62. Jern, P., J. P. Stoye, and J. M. Coffin. 2007. Role of APOBEC3 in genetic diversity among endogenous murine leukemia viruses. PLoS Genet 3:2014-2022.
- 63. **Jolicoeur, P., D. Baltimore.** 1976. Effect of Fv-1 gene product on proviral DNA formation and integration in cells infected with murine leukemia viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 73:2236–2240.
- 64. Katoh, I., Y. Yoshinaka, A. Rein, M. Shibuya, T. Odaka, S. Oroszlan. 1985. Murine leukemia virus maturation: protease region required for conversion from "immature" to "mature" core form and for virus infectivity. Virology. 145(2):280-92.
- 65. Keckesova, Z., L. M. Ylinen, and G. J. Towers. 2004. The human and African green monkey TRIM5α genes encode Ref1 and Lv1 retroviral restriction factor activities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101:10780–10785.
- 66. **Kirsten, W. H., L. A. Mayer.** 1967. Morphologic responses to a murine erythroblastosis virus. J Natl Cancer Inst. 39(2):311-35.
- 67. **Knipe, D. M., and P. M. Howley.** 2006. Fields virology, Fifth edition, Retroviradae: the retroviruses and their replication, 2000-2025. Retroviradae: the retroviruses and their replication two. Ref Type: Serial (Book)
- Kolokithas, A., K. Rosenke, F. Malik, D. Hendrick, L. Swanson, M. L. Santiago, J. L. Portis, K. J. Hasenkrug, and L. H. Evans. 2010. The glycosylated Gag protein of a murine leukemia virus inhibits the antiretroviral function of APOBEC3. J.Virol. 84:10933-10936.

- 69. Konings, D. A. M, M. A. Nash, J. V. Maizel, and R. B. Arlinghaus. 1992. Novel GACGhairpin pair motif in the 5' untranslated region of type C retroviruses related to murine leukemia virus. J. Virol. vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 632–640.
- 70. Krokan, H. E., F. Drablos, and G. Slupphaug. 2002. Uracil in DNA--occurrence, consequences and repair. Oncogene 21:8935-8948.
- 71. Kung, H. J., Y. K. Fung, J. E. Majors, J. M. Bishop, and H. E. Varmus. 1981. Synthesis of plus strands of retroviral DNA in cells infected with avian sarcoma virus and mouse mammary tumor virus. J. Virol. 37:127-138.
- 72. **Kurth, R., and N. Bannert.** 2010. Retroviruses: Molecular Biology, Genomics and Pathogenesis. Horizon Scientific Press. (Book)
- 73. Langlois, M. A., K. Kemmerich, C. Rada, and M. S. Neuberger. 2009. The AKV murine leukemia virus is restricted and hypermutated by mouse APOBEC3. J.Virol. 83:11550-11559.
- 74. Langlois, M-A., R.C.L. Beale, S. G. Conticello, and M. S. Neuberger. 2005. Mutational comparison of the single-domained APOBEC3C and double-domained APOBEC3F/G anti-retroviral cytidine deaminases provides insight into their DNA target site specificities. Nucleic Acids Research 33(6):1913-1923.
- 75. LaRue, R. S., S. R. Jónsson, K. A. T. Silverstein, M. Lajoie, D. Bertrand, N. El-Mabrouk, I. Hötzel, V. Andrésdóttir, T. P. L. Smith, and R. S. Harris. 2008. The artiodactyl APOBEC3 innate immune repertoire shows evidence for a multifunctional domain organization that existed in the ancestor of placental mammals. BMC Molecular Biology 9:104.
- 76. Lever, A.M.L., and K-T. Jeang. 2011. Insights into cellular factors that regulate HIV-1 replication in human cells. Biochemistry 50: 920-931.
- 1973. Levy, J. A. 1973. Xenotropic Viruses: Murine Leukemia Viruses Associated with NIH Swiss,
 NZB, and Other Mouse Strains. Science, Vol. 182 no. 4117 pp. 1151-1153.
- 78. **Lilly, F.** 1970. Fv-2: Identification and location of a second gene governing the spleen focus response to Friend leukemia virus in mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 45:163–169.
- 79. Low, A., C. M. Okeoma, N. Lovsin, M. Heras, T. H. Taylor, B. M. Peterlin, S. R. Ross, and H. Fan. 2009. Enhanced replication and pathogenesis of Moloney murine leukemia virus in mice defective in the murine APOBEC3 gene. Virology 385:455-463.

- Lowy, D. R., E. Rands, S. K. Chattopadhyay, C. F. Garon, and G. L. Hager. 1980. Molecular cloning of infectious integrated murine leukemia virus DNA from infected mouse cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:614-618.
- 81. **Mangeat, B., P. Turelli, G. Caron, M. Friedli, L. Perrin, and D. Trono**. 2003. Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature 424:99-103.
- 82. Mariani, R., D. Chen, B. Schrofelbauer, F. Navarro, R. Konig, B. Bollman, C. Munk, H. Nymark-McMahon, and N. R. Landau. 2003. Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell 114:21-31.
- 83. Mbisa, J. L., R. Barr, J. A. Thomas, N. Vandegraaff, I. J. Dorweiler, E. S. Svarovskaia, W. L. Brown, L. M. Mansky, R. J. Gorelick, R. S. Harris, A. Engelman, and V. K. Pathak. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. J Virol 81:7099-7110.
- Menendez-Arias, L., D. Gotte, and S. Oroszlan. 1993. Moloney murine leukemia virus protease: bacterial expression and characterization of the purified enzyme," Virology, vol. 196, no. 2, pp. 557–563.
- 85. **Miyauchi, K., Y. Kim, O. Latinovic, V. Morozov, and G. B. Melikyan.** 2009. HIV Enters Cells via Endocytosis and Dynamin-DependentFusionwithEndosomes. Cell. 137, 433–444.
- Moelling, K. 1974. Characterization of reverse transcriptase and RNase H from friend-murine leukemia virus. Virology, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 46–59.
- 87. **Moloney, J. B.** 1960. Biological studies on a lymphoid-leukemia virus extracted from sarcoma 37. I. Origin and introductory investigations. J Natl Cancer Inst. 24:933-51.
- 88. Monk, R. J., F. G. Malik, D. Stokesberry, and L. H. Evans. 1992. Direct determination of the point mutation rate of a murine retrovirus. J.Virol. 66:3683-3689.
- Murti, K. G., M. Bondurant, and A. Tereba. 1981. Secondary structural features in the 70S RNAs of Moloney murine leukemia and Rous sarcoma viruses as observed by electron microscopy. J Virol 37:411-419.
- Navaratnam, N., and R. Sarvar. 2006. An overview of cytidine deaminases. International Journal of Hematology 83:195-200.

- Navarro, F., B. Bollman, H. Chen, R. Konig, Q. Yu, K. Chiles, and N. R. Landau. 2005. Complementary function of the two catalytic domains of APOBEC3G. Virology 333:374-386.
- 92. Nitta T., S. Lee, D. Ha, M. Arias, C. A. Kozak, and H. Fan. 2012. Moloney murine leukemia virus glyco-gag facilitates xenotropic murine leukemia virus-related virus replication through human APOBEC3-independent mechanisms. Retrovirology 9:58.
- 93. Okeoma, C. M., A. L. Huegel, J. Lingappa, M. D. Feldman, and S. R. Ross. 2010. APOBEC3 proteins expressed in mammary epithelial cells are packaged into retroviruses and can restrict transmission of milk-borne virions. Cell Host & Microbe 8(6):534-543.
- 94. **Okeoma, C. M., N. Lovsin, B.M. Peterlin, and S.R. Ross.** 2007. APOBEC3 inhibits mouse mammary tumour virus replication in vivo. Nature 445:927-930.
- 95. Okeoma, C.M., A. Low, W. Bailis, H. Y. Fan, B. M. Peterlin, and S. R. Ross. 2009. Induction of APOBEC3 in vivo causes increased restriction of retrovirus infection. J. Virol. 83(8):3486-3495.
- 96. Opi, S., S. Kao, R. Goila-Gaur, M. A. Khan, E. Miyagi, H. Takeuchi, and K. Strebel. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif inhibits packaging and antiviral activity of a degradation-resistant APOBEC3G variant. J. Virol. 81:8236-8246.
- 97. **Oroszlan, S., C. W. Long, and R. V. Gilden.** 1976. Isolation of murine type-C virus p30 precursor protein by DNA-cellulose chromatography. Virology 72:523-526.
- 98. Pal, B. K., R. M. McAllister, M. B. Gardner, and P. Roy-Burman. 1975. Comparative studies on the structural phosphoproteins of mammalian type C viruses. J. Virol. 16:123-131.
- 99. Pathak, V. K., and H. M. Temin. 1990. Broad spectrum of in vivo forward mutations, hypermutations, and mutational hotspots in a retroviral shuttle vector after a single replication cycle: substitutions, frameshifts, and hypermutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 6019-6023.
- Pearl, L. H. and W. R. Taylor. 1987. A structural model for the retroviral proteases. Nature 329:351-354.
- 101. Perron, M. J., M. Stremlau, B. Song, W. Ulm, R. C. Mulligan, and J. Sodroski. 2004. TRIM5α mediates the postentry block to N-tropic murine leukemia viruses in human cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101:11827–11832.

- 102. Petit, V., D. Guetard, M. Renard, A. Keriel, M. Sitbon, S. Wain-Hobson, and J. P. Vartanian. 2009. Murine APOBEC1 is a powerful mutator of retroviral and cellular RNA in vitro and in vivo. J Mol Biol 385:65-78.
- Pinter, A., and E. Fleissner. 1977. The presence of disulfide-linked gp70-p15(E) complexes in AKR MuLV. Virology 83:417–422.
- 104. **Pinter, A., and W. J. Honnen.** 1983. Comparision of structural domains of gp70s of ecotropic AKV and its dualtropic recombinant MCF-247. Virology 129:40–50.
- 105. **Pinter, A., J. Lieman-Hurwitz, and E. Fleissner.** 1978. The nature of the association between the murine leukemia virus envelope proteins. Virology 91:345–351.
- 106. Portis, J. L., G. J. Spangrude, and F. J. McAtee. 1994. Identification of a sequence in the unique 5' open reading frame of the gene encoding glycosylated Gag which influences the incubation period of neurodegenerative disease induced by a murine retrovirus. J.Virol. 68:3879-3887.
- 107. Poss, M., H. A. Ross, S. L. Painter, D. C. Holley, J. A. Terwee, S. Vandewoude, and A. Rodrigo. 2006. Feline lentivirus evolution in cross-species infection reveals extensive G-to-A mutation and selection on key residues in the viral polymerase. J.Virol. 80:2728-2737.
- 108. Prats, A. C., G. De Billy, P. Wang, and J.-L. Darlix. 1989. CUG initiation codon used for the synthesis of the cell surface antigen coded by the murine leukemia virus. J. Mol. Biol. 205:363–372.
- 109. Ragheb, J. A. and W. F. Anderson. 1994. pH-independent murine leukemia virus ecotropic envelope-mediated cell fusion: implications for the role of the R peptide and p12E TM in viral entry, J. Virol. vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 3220–3231.
- 110. **Rauscher, F. J.** 1962. A virus-induced disease of mice characterized by erythrocytopoiesis and lymphoid leukemia. J Natl Cancer Inst 29:515-543.
- Rein, A. 2011. Murine Leukemia Viruses: Objects and Organisms. Advances in Virology, Volume 2011 Article ID 403419, 14 pages.
- 112. Rein, A., J. Mirro, J. G. Haynes, S. M. Ernst, and K. Nagashima. 1994. Function of the cytoplasmic domain of a retroviral transmembrane protein: p15E-p2E cleavage activates themembrane fusion capability of themurine leukemia virus Env protein. Journal of Virology, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 1773–1781.

- 113. Rose, J. K., W. A. Haseltine, and D. Baltimore. 1976. 5'-terminus of Moloney murine leukemia virus 35s RNA is m7G5' ppp5' GmpCp. J Virol; 20:324-329.
- 114. Ross, S. R. 2009. Are viruses inhibited by APOBEC3 molecules from their host species? PLoS Pathogens 5(4):e1000347.
- 115. **Rowe W. P., J. W. Hartley, T. Bremner.** 1972. Genetic mapping of a murine leukemia virus-inducing locus of AKR mice. Science. 178(4063):860-2.
- 116. Rowe, W. P., J. W. Hartley, M. R. Lander, W. E. Pugh, and N. Teich. 1971. Noninfectious AKR mouse embryo cell lines in which each cell has the capacity to be activated to produce infectious murine leukemia virus. Virology 46: 866-876.
- 117. Roy, C., N. Tounekti, M. Mougel, J. L. Darlix, C. Paoletti, C. Ehresmann, B. Ehresmann, and J. Paoletti. 1990. An analytical study of the dimerization of in vitro generated RNA of Moloney murine leukemia virus MoMuLV. Nucleic Acids Res 18:7287-7292.
- Rulli, S. J., Jr., J. Mirro, S. A. Hill, P. Lloyd, R. J. Gorelick, J. M. Coffin, D. Derse, and A. Rein. 2008. Interactions of murine APOBEC3 and human APOBEC3G with murine leukemia viruses. J.Virol. 82:6566-6575.
- 119. Sanchez-Martinez, S., A. L. Aloia, D. Harvin, J. Mirro, R. J. Gorelick, P. Jern, J. M. Coffin, and A. Rein. 2012. Studies on the restriction of murine leukemia viruses by mouse APOBEC3. PLoS.One. 7(5):e38190.
- 120. Santiago, M. L., M. Montano, R. Benitez, R. J. Messer, W. Yonemoto, B. Chesebro, K. J. Hasenkrug, and W. C. Greene. 2008. Apobec3 encodes Rfv3, a gene influencing neutralizing antibody control of retrovirus infection. Science 321:1343-1346.
- 121. Saris, C., J. Van Eenbergen, R. Liskamp, and H. Bloemers. 1983. Structure of glycosylated and unglycosylated gag and gag-pol precursor proteins of Moloney murine leukemia virus. J. Virol. 46:841–859.
- 122. Schneider, C. A., W. S. Rasband, and K. W. Eliceiri. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 9:671-675.
- 123. Schrofelbauer, B., Q. Yu, S. G. Zeitlin, and N. R. Landau. 2005. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr induces the degradation of the UNG and SMUG uracil-DNA glycosylases. J Virol 79:10978-10987.

- 124. Schultz, A., and A. Rein. 1985. Maturation of murine leukemiavirus env proteins in the absence of other viral proteins. Virology, vol. 145, no. 2, pp. 335–339.
- 125. Schwartz, D. E., P. C. Zamecnik, and H. L. Weith. 1977. Rous sarcoma virus genome is terminally redundant: the 3' sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74:994-998.
- 126. Seif, I., G. Khoury, and R. Dhar. 1979. The genome of human papovavirus BKV. Cell 18:963-977.
- 127. Shinnick, T. M., R. A. Lerner, and J. G. Sutcliffe. 1981. Nucleotide sequence of Moloney murine leukaemia virus. Nature, vol. 293, no. 5833, pp. 543–548.
- 128. Sitbon, M., J. Nishio, K. Wehrly, D. Lodmell, and B. Chesebro. 1985. Use of a focal immunofluorescence assay on live cells for quantitation of retroviruses: distinction of host range classes in virus mixtures and biological cloning of dual-tropic murine leukemia viruses. Virology 141:110-118.
- Smit, A. F. 1999. Interspersed repeats and other mementos of transposable elements in mammalian genomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 9:657-663.
- 130. Smith, D. S., K. Guo, B. S. Barrett, K. J. Heilman, L. H. Evans, K. J. Hasenkrug, W. C. Greene, and M. L. Santiago. 2011. Noninfectious retrovirus particles drive the APOBEC3/Rfv3 dependent neutralizing antibody response. PLoS.Pathog. 7:e1002284.
- 131. Sorge, J. and S. H. Hughes. 1982. Polypurine tract adjacent to the U3 region of the Rous sarcoma virus genome provides a cis-acting function. J. Virol. 43:482-488.
- 132. Stavrou, S., T. Nitta, S. Kotla, D. Ha, K. Nagashima, A. R. Rein, H. Fan, and S. R. Ross. 2013. Murine leukemia virus glycosylated Gag blocks apolipoprotein B editing complex 3 and cytosolic sensor access to the reverse transcription complex. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 110:9078-9083.
- 133. **Stoye, J. P., and J. M. Coffin.** 1987 The four classes of endogenous murine leukenlia virus: structural relationships and potential for recombination. J. Virol. 61: 2659-2669.
- 134. Stoye, J.P. 1998. Fv1, the mouse retrovirus resistance gene. Rev. sci. tech. Off. int. Epiz. 17 (1), 269-277.
- 135. Sutcliffe, J. G., T. M. Shinnick, I. M. Verma, and R. A. Lerner. 1980. Nucleotide sequence of Moloney leukemia virus: 3' end reveals details of replications, analogy to bacterial transposons, and an unexpected gene. PANS. 77(6): 3302–3306.

- 136. Svarovskaia, E. S., H. Xu, J. L. Mbisa, R. Barr, R. J. Gorelick, A. Ono, E. O. Freed, W. S. Hu, and V. K. Pathak. 2004. Human apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) is incorporated into HIV-1 virions through interactions with viral and nonviral RNAs. J Biol Chem 279:35822-35828.
- Sveda, M.M., R. Soeiro. 1976. Host restriction of Friend leukemia virus: Synthesis and integration of the provirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 73:2356–2360.
- 138. Swanstrom, R., and J. W. Wills. 1997. Synthesis, assembly, and processing of viral proteins, in Retroviruses, J. M. Coffin, S. H.Hughes, and H. E. Varmus, Eds., pp. 263–334, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, NY, USA.
- 139. Tailor, C. S., A. Nouri, C. G. Lee, C. Kozak, and D. Kabat. 1999. Cloning and characterization of a cell surface receptor for xenotropic and polytropic marine leukemia viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 927–932.
- 140. Takeda, E., S. Tsuji-Kawahara, M. Sakamoto, M. A. Langlois, M. S. Neuberger, C. Rada, and M. Miyazawa. 2008. Mouse APOBEC3 restricts friend leukemia virus infection and pathogenesis in vivo. J. Virol. 82:10998-11008.
- Taylor, G. M., and D. A. Sanders. 1999 .The Role of the Membrane-spanning Domain Sequence in Glycoprotein-mediated Membrane Fusion. Mol Biol; 10(9): 2803–2815.
- 142. Telesnitsky, A., and S. P. Goff. 1997. Reverse transcriptase and the generation of retroviral DNA. in Retroviruses, J. M. Coffin, S. H.Hughes, and H. E. Varmus, Eds., pp. 121–160, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, NY, USA.
- 143. Wang, X., Z. Ao, L. Chen, G. Kobinger, J. Peng, and X. Yao. 2012. The cellular antiviral protein APOBEC3G interacts with HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and inhibits its function during viral replication. J.Virol. 86:3777-3786.
- 144. Wilson, C. A., K. B. Farrell, and M. V. Eiden. 1994. Properties of a unique form of the murine amphotropic leukemia virus receptor expressed on hamster cells. J. Virol. vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 7697–7703.
- Witte, 0. N., and D. Baltitnore. 1978. Relationship of retrovirus polyprotein cleavages to virion maturation studied with temperature-sensitive murine leukemia virus mutants. J. Virol. 26, 750-761.

- 146. Xu, H., E. Chertova, J. Chen, D. E. Ott, J. D. Roser, W. S. Hu, and V. K. Pathak. 2007. Stoichiometry of the antiviral protein APOBEC3G in HIV-1 virions. Virology 360:247-256.
- 147. Yang, B., K. Chen, C. Zhang, S. Huang, and H. Zhang. 2007. Virion-associated uracil DNA glycosylase-2 and apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease are involved in the degradation of APOBEC3G-edited nascent HIV-1 DNA. J Biol Chem 282:11667-11675.
- 148. Yap, M. W., S. Nisole, C. Lynch, and J. P. Stoye. 2004. Trim5 protein restricts both HIV-1 and murine leukemia virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101:10786–10791.
- 149. Yeager, M., E. M. Wilson-Kubalek, S. G. Weiner, P. O. Brown, and A. Rein. 1998. Supramolecular organization of immature and mature murine leukemia virus revealed by electron cryo-microscopy: implications for retroviral assembly mechanisms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 95, no. 13, pp. 7299– 7304.
- 150. Yoshinaka, Y., and R. B. Luftig. 1977. Properties of a P70 proteolytic factor of murine leukemia viruses. Cell. 12(3):709–719.
- 151. **Yoshinaka, Y., and R. B. Luftig.** 1982. p65 of Gazdar murine sarcoma viruses contains antigenic determinants from all four of the murine leukemia virus (MuLV) gag polypeptides (p15, p12, p30, and p10) and can be cleaved in vitro by the MuLV proteolytic activity. Virology 118, 380-388.
- 152. Yoshinaka, Y., I. Katoh, T. D. Copeland, and S. Oroszlan. 1985. Murine leukemia virus protease is encoded by the gag-pol gene and is synthesized through suppression of an amber termination codon," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 82, no. 6, pp. 1618–1622.
- 153. Yu, Q., R. Konig, S. Pillai, K. Chiles, M. Kearney, S. Palmer, D. Richman, J. M. Coffin, and N. R. Landau. 2004. Single-strand specificity of APOBEC3G accounts for minus-strand deamination of the HIV genome. Nat.Struct.Mol.Biol. 11:435-442.